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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWR TN

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
Environmental Resources Group Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the Annual Report 2021 and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 30 June 2021.

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

The Group is currently engaged in metal recycle business, motor
and motor accessories business, car parking spaces rental, money
lending business and securities trading and investment business.
The Group also maintains the green businesses of research,
development and application of technologies and solutions,
manufacture, sale and trading of products, materials, systems and
services for green market segments including the environmental
markets, agricultural markets, organic markets and green
technology markets in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and overseas. The Group is developing a hotel business in Nepal.
The Group has been continuing to explore new business
opportunities for corporate development and dedicates to develop
sustainable current business.

Investment Properties

The Group holds two investment properties located at Mainland
China and Hong Kong respectively.

In Mainland China

The Company holds 80% interest of the investment property in
Mainland China which is an industrial development with land lot
numbers of 1914130300339 and 1914130300340, located at
Longchuanzhou, Renzhou Village, Shatian, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province. The industrial development comprises two
parcels of land with a site area of about 72,335.99 sq.m (or
about 778,624.6 sq.ft.) and various buildings and ancillary
structures erected thereon. The Property has a total gross floor
area of approximately 28,814.66 sg.m (or about 310,161.00
sg.ft.). The land use rights of the property have been granted for
various terms expiring on 15 February 2044 and expiring on
10 May 2044 for industrial use. No business activity is engaged at
the industrial development.

The Group considers that the Belt and Road Initiative promoted by
the Central Government of the PRC and the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area development will support economic
development of the Dongguan City as an international trade hub
in Southern China.
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Planning to the best usage or redevelopment of the industrial
properties had been delayed because of publication of a new
town zoning plan by the Dongguan government authority. Under
the new zoning plan a new highway was being mapped and part
of the land of the industrial properties would be used as or
affected by an exit and its connected roads from the highway for
Shatian Town. The Group had petitioned to the Dongguan City
government authorities requesting amendments to the plan to save
the industrial properties from being affected. The Dongguan City
government authorities have not yet concluded our petition and
the Group will closely monitor the development and work on the
best possible solution in the circumstances.

The recent announcement by the PRC central government to
expand the Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service Industry
Cooperation Zone from 14.9 square kilometres to 120.6 square
kilometres and deepening the cooperation between Shenzhen and
Hong Kong is a positive news for the industrial properties because
of their proximity to Qianhai. Together with the news of a new
cooperation zone for Macau with neighbouring Henggin, both
seen as renewed commitment of the central government to push
ahead with its Greater Bay Area ambitions, the industrial
properties are expected to maintain their value despite the recent
downturn of the real estate market in the PRC.

In Hong Kong

The Group holds 100% interest of Hong Kong investment
property which comprises 95 car parking spaces with Inland Lot
No. 1301 where 72 car parking spaces are located at 2nd Floor to
4th Floor of Harbour View Garden and 23 car parking spaces are
located at 3th Floor, Tower Ill, Harbour View Garden, No. 2
Catchick Street, Hong Kong.

The car parking spaces are held under Government Lease for a
term of 999 years commencing on 24 June 1892 and are leased
out for parking fee income.

The car parking spaces continued to provide a stable revenue and
cash flow to the Group. For the year ended 30 June 2021,
benefited from combatting illegal parking by the police and the
change of tenant who was more attentive to car parking
management, rental income increased to approximately
HK$4,036,000 (2020: approximately HK$3,696,000).

Biological Assets

By way of a forestry management and undertaking agreement, the
Group through its wholly-owned subsidiary acquired timber cutting
right over a plantation land of approximately 30,000 mu (Chinese
Mu) in Shihezi City, Xinjiang (the “Plantation Land”) for a period
of 30 years commencing on 1 July 2008.
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In the process of valuing the biological assets planted at the
Plantation Land, Roma Appraisals Limited (“Roma”) adopted the
Market-Based Approach to estimate the fair value of the biological
assets. The fair value of the biological assets was computed using
the formula:

The fair value of biological assets = (Total volume of standing
timbers x Recovery rate) x Market price of timber — Cutting cost +
Scrap sale income

According to BREEEMERSE prepared by InsideOut Due
Diligence Inc., random samplings have been performed in order to
estimate the total volume of standing timbers on the Plantation
Land based on “HZE A R A MBI B K FEAERAKMIER GB/T 4814-
2013". During each sampling process, there were 20 sampling
areas with an area of about 0.5 Mu per each sampling area were
selected. The following inputs have been adopted in this valuation
based on the opinions as stated in 2% & EHERE prepared by
InsideOut Due Diligence Inc.:

Total volume of standing timbers = 429,147 m?
Recovery rate = 80%

Cutting cost = 6% of revenue

Scrap sale income = 4% of revenue

With reference to observable market price of timber of similar
species in Mainland China, the adopted market price was RMB653
per cubic meter.

To determine how the different values of an independent variable
would impact a particular dependent variable under a given set of
assumptions, Roma carried out sensitivity analysis on the fair value
of the biological assets in respect of the recovery rate and
adopted market price. The results of the sensitivity analysis are as
follows:
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Absolute Change in Recovery Rate Applied Recovery Rate

Fair Value of the Biological Asset

Fil RS8R HE Pt A $R Mg & EYMEELARE
(RMB)
(AR®)
+10% 90% 247,193,000
+5% 85% 233,460,000
+0% 80% 219,727,000
-5% 75% 205,994,000
-10% 70% 192,261,000
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% change in Adopted Market Price Adopted Market Price

Fair Value of the Biological Asset

FriRm EEE % P % 4 i B EMEEARE
(RMB/m?) (RMB)
(BIBKARE) (AR#)
+10% 718 241,699,000
+5% 686 230,713,000
+0% 653 219,727,000
-5% 620 208,740,000
-10% 588 197,754,000

The directors are of the view that the fair value of the biological
assets is under a significant impact from changes in market price
per m?> of logs. If the market price per m® of logs increases/
decreases, the fair value of the biological assets would be higher/
lower proportionately, given that other inputs and assumptions
used in the valuation techniques remained unchanged.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2021, growth and volume of
the biological assets were affected by shortage of water resources,
soil degradation and broken ecosystem. For cost control purpose,
the Group has not appointed operator for forest plantation
maintenance since July 2018 and yet to devise appropriate valued
and cost effective plan to address these negative condition. The
Group recorded an increase to approximately HK$264,209,000
(2020: approximately HK$248,759,000) in the fair value of the
poplar trees of biological assets. The increase is a result of
fluctuation in exchange rate between RMB and HK$. The actual
fair value of poplar tree of biological assets recorded a loss in
RMB to approximately RMB219,727,000 (2020: approximately
RMB226,763,000). The Group considers that the increase or loss is
non-cash in nature and will not have effect on the financial
position of the Group.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the Group
recognised aggregate losses arising from the major non-current
assets of approximately HK$26,727,000 (2020: approximately
HK$25,002,000). This represents the combined effect of the
amortisation and impairment loss of intangible assets, the loss
arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological
assets and provision for impairment loss of right-of-use assets.

Plantation Sales Business

Source of the plantation sales business is the poplar trees at the
Plantation Land. There was no timber cutting activity and, hence,
for the year ended 30 June 2021, there was no revenue
generated from the plantation sales business (2020: Nil).
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The Group is working prudently to find the best possible use of
the biological assets and will cautiously evaluate the actual
economic return after knowing the harvest quota available
alongside with comprehensive analysis of all risks and uncertain
factors before making any investment decision.

Metal Recycle Business

For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group recorded a slight
increase in revenue from metal recycle business with total of
approximately HK$13,117,000 (2020: approximately
HK$12,862,000).

Quite a significant revenue percentage was generated in the final
quarter after vaccination was commenced and local COVID-19
cases were contained. There were signs of a gradual pick up or
restart of local economic activities. With iron ore price fletched to
historical peak level, good quality metal scrap for export was
highly demanded.

Difficulty is still on the source. Construction works have been
gradually resumed. According to the publication of the Census and
Statistics Department, the gross value of construction works
performed in the first quarter of 2021 compared in real term over
a year earlier was down by 1.1% at the private sector but up
11.9% at public sector. While there was an uptrend number,
figures in 2020 were of very much sliding numbers from the
normalcy in 2019. However, it was sign of slow recovery.

Motor and Motor Accessories Business

The business has two segments, sale of super car “BAC MONO",
high end used cars and motorcycle “Norton” and sale of motor
accessories of mainly prestige “Pirelli” motorcycle tyres, “Ohlins”
vibes absorbers, “SBS” brake solutions and “Sprint Filter” air
filters.

On the sale of car and motorcycle, efforts were focused on
disposal of the inventories. The Group is of the view that local
high end consumer market would take a long time to recover.

On the sale of motor accessories especially on “Pirelli” tyres, we
were able to maintain relatively stable revenue. Reason being our
present customer’s main market is in Taiwan where COVID-19
pandemic was less prevailing during the year.

For the year ended 30 June 2021, revenue from motor and motor

accessories business slightly increased to approximately
HK$58,495,000 (2020: approximately HK$55,737,000).
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Money Lending Business

The Group operates money lending business through a wholly
owned subsidiary, which is a holder of money lender’s license
under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). The Group has adopted money lending policies and
procedures for handling and/or monitoring the money lending
business in compliance with the Money Lenders Ordinance.

During the year, the Group recorded loan interest income of
approximately HK$2,230,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,939,000)
from loans granted to both corporate and individual clients,
representing a relatively down trend operation of the money
lending segment. The outstanding principal amount of loan
receivables as at 30 June 2021 was approximately HK$9,837,000
(2020: approximately HK$15,888,000). During the year, a provision
of approximately HK$4,152,000 for the impairment loss of loan
receivables was considered necessary in the application of HKFRS
9 by the Group.

Securities Trading and Investment Business

The Group maintained a very cautious approach and did not
participate in new securities trading during the year. Performance
of the prices of the invested stocks were down. As at 30 June
2021, size of the securities investment portfolio amounted to
approximately HK$1,129,000 (2020: approximately HK$1,696,000).

For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group recorded a net loss
on fair value changes on investments at fair value through profit
or loss of the invested stocks of approximately HK$567,000 (2020:
approximately HK$2,914,000).

Details of the Group's investments at fair value through profit or
loss of the invested stocks are set out in the sub-section headed
“Significant Investments”.
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Green Technology

There was no revenue on the green technology for the year (2020:
Nil).

Golden Flower Tea Products

In May 2018, the Group had secured an exclusive right from E &
EZESERERREAMR AT for the distribution and sale of
products associated with its golden flower plantation for a period
of 30.6 years.

For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group did not record
revenue from the sale of golden flower tea (2020: HK$144,000).

Despite the engagement of EREMBEEER AR AT (a
subsidiary of Shenzhen Tencent Computer System Company
Limited) to launch the inauguration promotion programmes
broadcasted nationwide and promotional sponsorship by the
Group in various private events in both Mainland China and Hong
Kong to advertise the golden flower tea products, their sales at
Jingdong online platform at national level and our efforts at other
private channels were way far below our expectation. The
COVID-19 pandemic had added further detriment to our sales and
promotion. Facing with the set back and the uncertainty, the
Group has slowed down the business development of the golden
flower tea products and will cautiously review this business
segment.

Prospects

The COVID-19 pandemic continues its unprecedented effects
worldwide. In so far, there are only 5 nations that do not have
official reported COVID-19 case. Ever since the first reported case
in December 2019, confirmed cases number worldwide is
approaching 220 million with tens of thousands being added daily
and death toll is exceeding 4.5 million. It has not only brought
deep uncertainty and confusion to the financial market worldwide,
it also seriously affects social lives of all walks.

With vaccine being made available at the beginning of this year
and rapid mass production of varies authorised vaccines,
vaccination has been widely used in developed and developing
countries. There are now two ways of combating COVID-19 by
different countries. One is vaccinations and live with the viruses to
bring normalcy to livings with limited restrictions. Another is
vaccination and containment of viruses to protect lives with aim to
bring normalcy to livings with more restrictions imposed. Mainland
China and Hong Kong are adopting the latter approach. Of course
there are developing countries which have no resources for
acquiring vaccines and are awaiting assistance.
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Mutation of the viruses is now an imminent issue. The resurgence
of the COVID-19 epidemic Delta variant is not only testing the
effectiveness of vaccines but also has heightened the uncertainty
over the global economic outlook. Further, most countries make
vaccination available but not mandatory. There are groups of
people who are objecting or unwilling to take vaccine. That may
result with insufficient number of population to reach herd
immunity.

Hong Kong started her vaccination programme at the end of
February 2021 and now has administered over 8 million shots
with vaccination rate stood at over 60%. Strict distancing and
guarantine measures together with high self awareness of Hong
Kong people, COVID-19 cases in Hong Kong become less
prevalent with continuous zero case. As a result, Hong Kong's
economy is slowly recovering. The first quarter of 2021 marked
the end of six consecutive quarterly recession with a growth of
GDP of 7.9% over a year earlier. The growth continued onto the
second quarter on a slight slide to 7.6% over a year earlier.
However, the economic recovery remained uneven with exports of
goods surpassing the high recorded in the same period of 2018
by a considerable margin while inbound tourists remained frozen.
On the domestic front, labour market was improved and
consumption sentiment was stimulated. The Financial Secretary
had revised upward the real GDP growth forecast for 2021 as a
whole to 5.5%-6.5%.

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused disruptions to several business
plans of the Group highlighted below:

(1) The Group started a hotel business plan at Kathmandu, Nepal
around September 2019. Decorations and fitting out works
were suspended in March 2020 when first lockdown was
implemented and ever since lockdown periods outnumbered
normal period. The second pandemic wave was even more
severe when Delta variants started in India in April 2021.
Lockdown has been in place in Nepal since 26 April 2021
and is still continuing. One of our directors visited
Kathmandu in mid-April intended to evaluate the situation
and negotiate with the landlord on issues raised but had to
cut the journey short to catch the last flight flying out to
Mainland China after Hong Kong prohibited flights from
Nepal one day after being released from quarantined at
Kathmandu. The Group’s appointed lawyers are doing
negotiations on our behalf now. Also, the delay has caused
provision of impairment of the hotel tenancy but it can be
added back when the hotel business plan restarted.
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(2)  The Group participated in an operation with 51% equity of
an online trading platform for agricultural products in
Mainland China in form of variable interest entity. The
COVID-19 pandemic travel restrictions, quarantine
requirements, PCR tests etc. had deeply affected physical
presence of our management and technical personnel for
timely performance of our obligations under the agreement,
monitoring of and support to the operation and, as result,
all participants did not move in accord steps. Moreover, with
the pandemic outbreak, performance of the platform was far
below our expectations. To mitigate all potential risks and
after consideration by the Board, the variable interest entity
was terminated by mutual consent.

(3) The Group planned to expand the motor accessories sales
business into Mainland China. Taking the successful
experience of “Pirelli” tyres sales to customers in turn for
their sales in Taiwan, sales plan was devised for the
Mainland China market. The plan was not materialised
because of the pandemic outbreak. Also, the market in
Taiwan will likely be affected due to recent return of
COVID-19 cases and restrictions imposed.

With the relative stable of the COVID-19 pandemic and economy
is under recovery both in Mainland China and Hong Kong, the
Group would like to push forward motor accessories sale business
into Mainland China when cross border quarantine measures are
lifted for travellers from Hong Kong to Mainland China. Also,
there were signs of growth in the metal recycle business and the
Group will deploy more resources in it.

The Group will continue taking cost control measures and making
efforts to reduce costs and overheads to enhance cash flow to
meet opportunities raised from the economy rebound. However,
with global markets remain sensitive to COVID-19 pandemic,
political tension between the PRC and the United States and her
alliances which warrants attention and macroeconomic
uncertainties, the Group will remain conservative in new
investments and pay more attention to solve existing problems and
better existing viable business.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 30 June 2021, revenue of the Group increased
by 3.3% to approximately HK$77,878,000 (2020: approximately
HK$75,406,000) and gross profit of the Group increased by 5.8%
to approximately HK$19,867,000 (2020: approximately
HK$18,786,000). Loss for the year ended 30 June 2021 decreased
to approximately HK$48,942,000 as compared to loss of
approximately HK$55,774,000 of last corresponding year. The
increase in revenue was mainly due to the increase in revenue of
recycled material trading business, motor and motor accessories
business and investment properties in Hong Kong. The gross profit
for the year maintained at almost the same level as compared to
last financial year. The loss for the year was mainly due to
administrative and operating expenses, loss arising from the
changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets, net loss
on fair value changes on investments at fair value through profit
or loss, provision for impairment loss of intangible assets,
provision for impairment loss of receivables and provision for
impairment loss of right-of-use assets. The Group considers that
the change in fair value is non-cash in nature and will not have
material adverse effect on the financial position of the Group.

For the year ended 30 June 2021, basic and diluted loss per share
were HK2 cents (2020: HK3 cents). Loss arising from changes in
fair value less costs to sell of biological assets was approximately
HK$8,245,000 (2020: approximately HK$4,814,000). Fair value gain
on investment properties was recorded at HK$1,900,000 (2020:
loss of approximately HK$15,322,000).

For the year ended 30 June 2021, the finance costs were
approximately HK$2,469,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,144,000).

Administrative expenses from operations for the year ended
30 June 2021 decreased to approximately HK$41,210,000 (2020:
approximately HK$45,001,000). It included major items such as
amortisation of intangible assets of approximately HK$5,133,000,
salaries and directors’ emoluments of approximately
HK$13,596,000 and expenses related to short-term leases of
approximately HK$1,604,000. Income tax credit was recorded at
approximately HK$1,114,000 (2020: approximately HK$1,008,000).
Exchange gain on translating foreign operations was recorded at
approximately HK$30,913,000 (2020: loss approximately
HK$12,423,000).
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30 June 2021, the total assets of the Group were
approximately HK$799,650,000 (2020: approximately
HK$762,398,000), including cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$19,005,000 (2020: approximately
HK$2,951,000).

The Group’s total borrowings as at 30 June 2021 were
approximately HK$71,787,000 (2020: approximately
HK$31,179,000). The Group’s gearing ratio (which was expressed
as a percentage of total borrowings over total equity) was
approximately 12.8% as at 30 June 2021 (2020: approximately
5.4%).

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’'s net assets amounted to
approximately HK$559,701,000 (2020: approximately
HK$577,732,000).

The directors of the Company are of the view that the Group has
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future.

Significant Investments

As at 30 June 2021, the Group held investments at fair value
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Stock Name Note Stock Code Place of incorporation  securities Market value or loss of the Group
EhESH BAREHN HEREAE
. RERWER/ Biazfde FEZRY
i & Mz RGRSE EREIRE (B518) %8 HE  BOES aalt
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR % %
China Fortune Financial Group Limited 1290 Cayman Islands (334) 32 285 0.06
HEEREREIERAA FEHS
Dingyi Group Investment Limited 2 508 Bermuda 72 133 1.8 0.02
SEEEREFRAT BRE
Wai Chun Group Holdings Limited 31013 Bermuda (260) 368 326 0.07
BERBEZRERAT BRE
Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding 4 3626 Cayman Islands (45) 306 271 0.05
Company Limited FE/E
(567) 1,129 100 0.20

14 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

2021 Annual Report



Notes:

China Fortune Financial Group Limited is a Hong Kong-based investment
holding company principally engaged in financial businesses. The
company operates through five segments. The Corporate Finance
segment engages in the provision of corporate finance services. The
Securities Brokerage and Margin Financing segment engages in securities
business and margin financing business. The Money Lending segment
engages in the provision of money lending services. The Asset
Management segment engages in the provision of asset management
and advisory services to professional investors and the management of
financial investments. The Consultancy and Insurance Brokerage segment
engages in the provision of consultancy services and insurance brokerage
services. No dividend was received for the year ended 30 June 2021.
According to its latest published financial statements, it had a net asset
value of approximately HK$324,308,000 as at 31 March 2021.

Dingyi Group Investment Limited is an investment holding company
principally engaged in the business of loan financing. Together with its
subsidiaries, the company operates business through its three segments.
The Loan Financing Business segment is involved in the loan financing
through its surplus funds. The Properties Development Business segment
is involved in the construction and sale of properties. The Securities
Trading Business segment is involved in the investment of securities
trading business. In addition, the company is also involved in the trading
of wine. No dividend was received for the year ended 30 June 2021.
According to its latest published financial statements, it had a net asset
value of approximately HK$2,673,973,000 as at 31 March 2021.

Wai Chun Group Holdings Limited is an investment holding company
mainly engaged in the sale of mobile phones and electronic
components. Along with subsidiaries, the company operates its business
through three segments. The General Trading segment is engaged in the
distribution of mobile phones and electronic components. The Services
Income segment is involved in the design, consultation and
manufacturing of information system software and provides related
management training services. The Sales and Integration Services
segment is engaged in the sale of computer and communication systems
and provides related integration services. In addition, the company also
provides telecommunications infrastructure solution services. No dividend
was received for the year ended 30 June 2021. According to its latest
published financial statements, it had net liabilities of approximately
HK$89,699,000 as at 31 March 2021.

Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding Company Limited is an
investment holding company. The company is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sale of apparel labels and packaging printing
products. The company’s products include hangtags, size tapes, labels,
such as woven labels, heat transfer labels and printed labels, header
cards, stickers, price tickets, plastic packaging bags and packaging
boxes. Its subsidiaries include Hang Sang (Siu Po) Holding Limited, Hang
Sang (Siu Po) Press Company Limited and A W Printing & Packaging
Limited. No dividend income was received during the year. According to
its latest published financial statements, it had a net asset value of
approximately HK$75,635,000 as at 31 December 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

Employment and Remuneration Policy

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had 39 (2020: 65) employees. The
Group implements remuneration policy, bonus and share option
scheme to ensure that pay scales of its employees are rewarded
on a performance related basis within the general framework of
the Group's remuneration.

Charges on the Group Assets

Details of the charges of assets of the Group are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Dividend

The directors of the Company do not recommend or declare the
payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June
2021 (2020: Nil).

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rate

Most of the transactions, income and expenditure of the Group
are denominated in United States dollar (“USD”) and Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$").

Since HK$ remains pegged to USD, the Group does not foresee a
substantial exposure in exchange rate.

No hedging or other arrangements to reduce the currency risk
have been implemented.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 30 June 2021, the directors of the Company are not aware
of any material contingent liabilities.

Yeung Chi Hang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2021
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Biographical Details of Directors

ESEHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, aged 42, was appointed as Executive
Director on 16 January 2014. Mr. Yeung was also appointed as
the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company on
27 January 2015. Mr. Yeung is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Mr. Yeung studied at Camosun College, Canada and
has over 10 years of experience in investment, hotel management
and in operating entertainment businesses.

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, aged 65, was appointed as Executive
Director on 6 October 2008. He is also the Chairman of the
investment committee of the Company. Mr. Leung holds a
Bachelor of Social Science Degree from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He had been working for 10 years in the marketing
department of Hang Lung Development Ltd. since graduation.
Mr. Leung had also served the positions of executive director of
Top Glory International Holdings Limited, China Foods Limited,
Cheung Tai Hong Holdings Limited, and an independent
non-executive director of Top Spring International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3688), all of which are companies with shares listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Leung has
over 28 years of real estate and business experience in Hong Kong
and Mainland China concentrating in property investment and
development, acquisition and merger, deal marking and
investment projects arrangement. He was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Rainbow Digital Commercial
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 002419SZ) with effect from 19 September
2019.

Mr. Wong Po Keung, aged 50, was appointed as Executive
Director on 30 September 2013. He is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, the financial controller and a
member of the investment committee of the Company. Mr. Wong
holds a Master degree in business administration from the
University of South Australia. He is a fellow member of both the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has ample
experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and
company secretarial practices in respect of listed companies. He
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of FSM
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1721) with effect from 8 April
2020.
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Mr. Chung Siu Wah, aged 64, was appointed as Executive
Director on 14 August 2014. Mr. Chung started his career in 1976
by joining the Hong Kong Government as a Customs Inspector. He
obtained his law degree with honour at the University of London
in 1986 and further obtained his Postgraduate Certificate of Laws
at University of Hong Kong in 1987. He resigned from the
Customs and Excise Department in 1987 and started his legal
career. He has been a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong since
1989. He joined Messer. Tony Kan & Co. in 1987 and became a
partner in 1992. He retired from the partnership in 2004 but
continues to associate with the law firm as a consultant till now.
Mr. Chung has over 8 years of experience in the hotel, gaming
and entertainment industry. Mr. Chung has also experience in the
management of listed company at Hong Kong. He was appointed
as an executive director of Daido Group Limited (stock code: 544)
for the period from 9 September 2011 to 5 August 2013.

Mr. Chik To Pan, aged 42, was appointed as Executive Director
on 15 April 2016. He is also the director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Chik has wide experience in licensing of
karaoke music products, operating entertainment businesses and
wedding service businesses. Mr. Chik has also experience in the
management of listed company at Hong Kong. He was appointed
as an executive director of United Power Investment Limited (now
named as China Tangshang Holdings Limited) (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 674) for the
period from 8 March 2005 to 24 January 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang, aged 69, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 2 March 2009. He is also
a member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong had been an
Independent Non-executive Director, member of audit committee
and member of remuneration committee of the Company since
3 July 2002. He resigned on 4 July 2008 as he himself had a long
term personal assignment stationed in Shanghai. Mr. Wong had
completed his assignment in Shanghai and returned to Hong
Kong. He holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from the
University of Hong Kong. He is a property consultant and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators
and the Australian Institute of Building respectively.
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Mr. Ong Chi King, aged 48, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director on 27 January 2014. He is also the chairman of
audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee. Mr. Ong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Ong received
a bachelor's degree in business administration from The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology and a master’s degree
in corporate finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Mr. Ong has more than 20 years of experience in accounting,
finance and company secretarial fields and held senior positions in
finance and company secretarial departments in various listed
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
resigned as an executive director of Deson Construction
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8268) with effect from
29 July 2019. He resigned as an independent non-executive
director of Hong Kong Education (Int’l) Investments Limited (stock
code: 1082) and Larry Jewelry International Company Limited
(stock code: 8351) with effect from 9 November 2017 and
1 October 2019, respectively. Mr. Ong was a director of Fitness
Concept International Holdings Limited prior to its dissolution. The
said company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and was
dissolved on 30 June 2005 by striking off due to cessation of
business.

Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric, aged 53, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director on 16 January 2015. He is
also a member of audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee. He is a qualified solicitor admitted to the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong and a Civil Celebrant of Marriages.
Mr. Heung received a bachelor’s degree in Law from University of
Leicester England. He has more than 22 years of experience in the
legal profession. Mr. Heung is presently a partner of Messrs. Wong
Heung Sum & Lawyers, consultant of Messrs. Tung, Ng, Tse &
Lam, Solicitors, director of Lions Club of Kwai Tsing HKSAR,
committee legal adviser of the Association of the Hong Kong
Members of Shandong’s Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, executive committee member of Basic Law Institute
Limited, Honorary President of Hong Kong Guangxi Beihai City
Friendship Association Limited Standing Council and committee
member of USRC Standing Disciplinary. He was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Gold Tat Group
International Limited (now known as Zhuoxin International
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8266) for the period from
18 August 2000 to 3 March 2015. He resigned as an independent
non-executive director of Zhong Fa Zhan Holdings Limited (stock
code: 475) and WE Solutions Limited (Stock Code: 860) with
effect from 20 October 2017 and 17 December 2018,
respectively.

THRREEREEBRAF

EFFREE B R_FT-—HF—HA
_+taﬁéﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁ§$ 1% 75
REZEZES REZEGhFTHEEE
FE-FTAEBRARBAG J%“AQE&
BFRALNRGHARMAGERGE - TEREH
EEABNMBRAREIBERELBUNES
ﬁIK?ﬁ%iﬂ%iﬂﬁ FREHER
HR0F v B HMBRARIMELS
“Eyﬁ%x%zﬁim Al B EA
AIMEBFAEHEIRE REHTHEERR
PR R B AR AR (IR K5 - 8268) 2 81
"nTEE BZE-NAFELAZ-TNBE
MR _BE—+F+—ANLBEZZ
—NFETA—ADBHEEEHE (HE
KESBEBR QA (RHRIE : 1082) R i&
NELBEBEER AR (KM : 8351) 2
B M OIE B 1T E F o MAFitness Concept
International Holdings Limited)& 2 A -
EERHESE - J:L/ATEA%ﬁxgi%ufﬂﬁ
Ky TR -ZZEZERFNA=Z+BHRAEKIE
375 1 BR A AR BR o

B SE 4 535 RN = fF— A
E%é&%%¢#%ﬁ§$o&ﬁﬁ
2Z BT FNZEERREREZEEEN
&E%%fn%h;TzAﬁﬁéﬁ
&ﬁ@ SN B ANEEKATFERE
ESrREELEN FREAREERAR
NRFEKH - BELEBRBAEELEMEH
FizaBA BERWPMNEMELETZEN
Z EEAFEREERHTo2ESE LR
EHhEARBAGECHEZEASCTEHS
ZKA EERER - BEAXEMRERLER

AMITEZEESNE -BAEEAILEME
%w?@ﬁﬁ@%A% eRN=Fe¥
R EZEE &Eo&ﬁ_gggiAﬁ
+TNHEZZE—AF =A== HHEZT
E@i%ll%ﬁ@@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ

TR AR A ) (DR 8266) 2B
#mh%$oﬁa%ﬁ¢%F¢kﬁ@
A (R 475 R Q2B R AR (B
BRI :860) 2B IERITEE D RlB
—E—+F+AFTHEHEZZE-N\FE+=
At++tHAEM-

mm+m
W\\ r-l-[-

—EBC-—F5H 19



Report of the Directors

E%ﬁiﬁii

The Board has pleasure to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in metal recycle business, motor and
motor accessories business, car parking spaces rental, money
lending business, golden flower tea products trading, securities
trading and investment business. The Group also maintains the
green businesses of research, development and application of
technologies and solutions, manufacture, sale and trading of
products, materials, systems and services for green market
segments including the environmental markets, agricultural
markets, organic markets, green technology markets in the PRC
and overseas.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 142 to
143.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 60 to 61.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group and an analysis of the Group's
performance during the vyear using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 16 of this annual report.

Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing can be found in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 92 to 98 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group puts great emphasis on environmental protection and
sustainable development. The conscientious use of resources and
the adoption of best practices across the Group’s businesses
underlie its commitment to safeguarding the environment. The
Group encourages environmental protection, complies with
environmental legislations and promotes awareness towards
environmental protection to its employees. Several measures have
been implemented by the Group in order to promote
environmental protection, including, among others:

(i)  promoting energy saving by encouraging its staff to switch
off all air-conditioners and lightings before leaving the
office, and to utilize the timer-control function of all
air-conditioning systems;

(i) reducing energy consumption by using energy-saving light
bulbs in the corridors and the reception area of its offices;

(iii)  promoting recycling by placing recycle bins next to printers
for collecting used papers for reusing and recycling
purposes, and by encouraging two-sided printing and/or the
use of scratch papers; and

(iv) reducing the use of disposable products by, for example,
cancelling the distribution of plastic bags in office.

The report of Environmental, Social and Governance of the Group
will be available at the HKEXnews website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk), Singapore
Exchange Limited (www.sgx.com) and Company's website
(www.cergroup.com.hk).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2021 and up to the date of this
report, the Group have complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in the Mainland China and Hong Kong that have a
significant impact on the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 74.4% of the total sales
for the year and the sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 53.2%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 84.9% of the total
purchases for the year and the purchase from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 69.5%.
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Report of the Directors
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None of Directors, any of their associates or any substantial
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five
largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group’s management policies, working environment, career
prospects and employees’ benefits have contributed to building a
good employee relations and employee retention of the Group.
The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
commensurate with industry practice and provides various fringe
benefits to employees including medical benefits, social insurance,
provident funds, bonuses and a share option scheme. The
management regularly reviews its employee’s remuneration
packages to ensure they are up to prevailing market standard.

The Group keeps a high standard in selecting reputable and
reliable suppliers, in order to meet our own quality, safety,
environmental and product criteria. During the year ended
30 June 2021 and up to the date of this report, the Group
maintained good relationship with its suppliers. The Group has a
well-established business relationship with the customers.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend or declare the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement of the
shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 24 November 2021 to Wednesday,
1 December 2021 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of share(s) will be effected. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all transfers
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must
be lodged with Union Registrars Limited, the branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong, at
Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338
King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 23 November 2021.

SEGMENTS INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by
operating segments for the financial year is set out in Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company and its movements
during the year ended 30 June 2021 are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 64.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 June 2021 amounted
to approximately HK$189,358,000. Under section 34 of the
Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium is available for distribution to the Shareholders subject to
the provisions of the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), and no distribution may be paid to the
Shareholders out of the Company’s share premium unless the
Company shall be able to pay its debt as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the
year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of pledge of assets during the year are set out in Note 29
to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi
Mr. Wong Po Keung
Mr. Chung Siu Wah
Mr. Chik To Pan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang
Mr. Ong Chi King
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi,
Mr. Wong Po Keung and Mr. Wong Kwai Sang being the existing
Directors longest in office since their last re-election, will retire by
rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Company and its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of Independent Non-
executive Director, a written annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

The nomination committee of the Company and the Board

considered that all Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.
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Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2021, the interests and short positions held by each
Director and chief executive of the Company and their associates
in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporation, if any, (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

EERmRETBASRIKG - HE
R RES 2R
S ——FXA=+H" $’AET %

%&%f%%D%ﬂH@Zk
ﬁﬁ&ﬁ&ﬁ%$%ﬁ$ AIZAR &
%&Hﬂfﬂﬂﬁﬂ%%zﬂ*ﬁ Zii‘uaﬂﬂpﬂﬁ”*
ZE SRR %ﬁﬁtmﬁwmﬁ+%
ﬁki m %%%ﬁ)\i??;ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&%ﬁ'ﬂm
W(Wrﬁ#@U%Eﬂéﬂi 7&%&2%2
BmREEWNT

RAEATRGRHEFKRBZRE

Number of shares/underlying shares
held in the Company

A ATRE ARKGHE

Total interests
as to% to the
issued share

Interest under capital as at

Capacity in which Interests in equity Total 30 June 2021

Name of Director interests are held shares  derivatives interests (Note)

R-Z®F=Z-—

~A=+H

R

EETEREZ

RBRALTE Bt

EEnE BRERZSH BipER IARZER EREE (B EE)

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang Beneficial owner 511,236,000 16,942,817 528,178,817 25.94%
BEELEE EnBEBA

Mr. Chung Siu Wah Beneficial owner — 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
EOELEE EnEBA

Mr. Chik To Pan Beneficial owner — 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
BRE R A EnEAA

Mr. Wong Po Keung Beneficial owner — 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
HIRBEE E=EEA

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi Beneficial owner — 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.07%
RESTHE ExEAA

Mr. Ong Chi King Beneficial owner — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
TFREAE ExnEAA

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang Beneficial owner — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
BEERE EnlEBA

Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric Beneficial owner g 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
BEBEAE EnEBA

Note: Hiat -

The percentage of shareholding was calculated on the basis of the Company’s
issued share capital of 2,036,538,114 shares as at 30 June 2021.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2021, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had any other personal, family, corporate and other
interests or short positions in shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a new
share option scheme on 11 November 2015 (the “2015 Share
Option Scheme”).

Details of the 2015 Share Option Scheme are as follows:
(@) Purpose of the 2015 Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2015 Share Option Scheme is to provide
the Group with a flexible means of giving incentive to,
rewarding, remunerating and/or providing benefits to the
eligible persons and to provide the eligible persons with all
opportunity to acquire a personal stake in the Group and to
build common objectives of the Group and the eligible
persons for the betterment of business and profitability of
the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

Eligible persons means: (a) any eligible employee; (b) any
non-executive director (including any independent
non-executive director) of the Company, any subsidiary or
any invested entity; (c) chief executive or any substantial
shareholder of the Company; (d) any consultant or
professional advisor to the Company, any subsidiary or any
invested entity; (e) any associate of director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company; or (f) any
discretionary object of a discretionary trust established by
any of the above-mentioned persons.

(b) Who may join
The Board may, at its discretion, invite any eligible persons

to take up options at a price calculated in accordance with
sub-paragraph (g) below.
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()

(d)

Upon acceptance of the option, the eligible person shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the
grant. The option will be offered for acceptance for such
period as may be determined by the Board.

BERATREMNERER  BRX
N A 32 51.000 JT 89 K (B B 4B IR
o BEBRESNESSNEETCE
FRIRIR 28 M-

Total number of shares of the Company available (¢) T FEETHERAS KRG EH
for issue
The Company refreshed the scheme mandate limit at the ARARBR-ZZE—RFLtAZ+IH
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on BITHAR 7&%'%%?("\“_7
29 July 2016 (the “2016 EGM") and at the annual general —ANEBRREIAE]) ERR-ZF =
meeting of the Company held on 11 December 2020 (the EEF+ A+ -—HEITHARFRE
2020 AGM"). BFRE(_ZT-_TFRRAFK
2 LEHFEIRERSE -

At the 2020 AGM, an ordinary resolution was passed by the ﬁ(\\_%ﬁ_ ZERFFEFAE L KRE
shareholders of the Company approving the refreshment of Fﬁjt@x?&%%ﬁt/ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁr%ﬂi‘xﬁiﬁﬁ
the Scheme Mandate Limit and the Company was allowed to E MR R A EERE RS
grant Options up to 203,653,811 Shares, which is equivalent 203,653,811/ f% 17 A9 B8 A #E - AR 1n
to approximately 10% of the aggregate number of the HEMERR_ZTFRFBAFK
issued Shares at the date of the 2020 AGM and as at gRAHER-_ZTEZ—FA=+AHAE
30 June 2021. BT BBEA10% °
Maximum entitlement of each participant (d) BRLEATTERER LR
The total number of the shares issued and to be issued ER &R B - B2EETE
upon exercise of the options granted to a participant under BE T -LFBRETEIMEER
the 2015 Share Option Scheme (including both exercised B (BIEEITHE LM ARITHENERE)
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not MEITHH FTERITHRNODBE - 15
exceed 1% of the shares in issue from time to time, R TRDETRMI% - EMKRR
provided that if approved by shareholders in general meeting RIERAg L (BESEERE
with such participant and his associates abstaining from BMBEAEANERSE)  KARARAMZK
voting, the Company may make a further grant to such E2HERHEBINERRE o
participant.
In relation to the further grant, the Company shall send a ?f%ﬁﬁﬂ\&ﬁﬁﬁ = ARBARBREET
circular to the shareholders, which discloses the identity of BRE BRABS2HEENSH
the relevant participant, the number and the terms of the TEREBERE(RENEE_-_Z—T0
options to be granted (and options previously granted to FRRESSREMAESRTERSZ
such participant under the 2015 Share option Scheme and TATHERE) MEE R A
other scheme) and the information required under the R ETHRARERER - BIRFEIMNE
Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the exercise Hj?‘%ﬂ%iﬂjﬁ%ﬂx%ﬂ’]%( B RIER (B E
price) of options which is the subject of the further grant TEE) VARG EHA Hx%ﬁt/&
shall be fixed before the relevant shareholders’ approval and RIETE - ﬁ’ﬁ%%?%ﬁ?%%? )
the date of meeting of the Board meeting for proposing the IMEHEREEERTE AR %Mﬁ
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the EEMRER-
purpose of calculating the relevant subscription price.
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Period of the 2015 Share Option Scheme

The 2015 Share Option Scheme will remain valid for a
period of 10 years commencing on the date of
11 November 2015 after which period no further options
may be granted but the provisions of the 2015 Share Option
Scheme shall remain in all other respects in full force and
effect in respect of any options granted prior thereto but
not yet exercised at the time of termination, which shall
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of
grant.

Time of exercise of option

Unless the Board determines otherwise, an option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2015 Share
Option Scheme at any time during which shall not exceed
10 years from the date upon which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. The 2015 Share Option Scheme
does not require a minimum period for which an option
must be held or a performance target which must be
achieved before an option can be exercised.

Price of the shares

The subscription price for the shares subject to options will
be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
participant and will be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares on the Main Board as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the Option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares on the Main Board as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of a share.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

The following table set out movements in the Company’s share NERHI|RE T AFEERETE DK
options granted under the 2015 Share Options Scheme during the H 2 &R 7%’&%)\5’\@??2“ :
year:

Number of Share Options

BREYE
Exercise As at As at
Capacity Date of Grant price Exercisable period 1July 2020 Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed 30 June 2021
o R=B-%% - R-B=-%
el RHiaH fTfEf 78 tH-H ERY Efff BE#E¥E EX¥ AAZTH
Executive Directors
YiTES
Yeung Chi Hang 22 ApriI 2016 0.2064 22 AprJJ 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - - - — 14,142,817
BEE - EWMAZ-t+ZA z Rﬁ@ﬂ T= Ei
— 7 7/\ ¢ E H “‘
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 20184 June 2028 2,800,000 - - - — 2,800,000
ZZ-\FXRER - \ERAREE
ZZZ\FRAMA
Chung Siu Wah 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - — - — 14142817
g ZE-AEEA=TZH ZE-REMAZTZ
“E-AFmAC + H
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 20184 June 2028 2,800,000 - - - — 2,800,000
—Z-\EXAAA —Z- Aiﬂﬂﬂﬁi
ZEZN\ERAEA
Chik To Pan 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - - - — 14,142,817
HEH “E-AFEAZTZR “EAFEA-4ZRE
ZEZREMAZT-A
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 2,800,000 - - - - 2,800,000
ZZ-N\EXAER “E-\EXARAE
“E-\§XANA
Wong Po Keung 22 ApriI 2016 0.2064 22 AprJJ 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - - - — 14,142,817
ER% ZE-RENAZ+ZA z ui@ﬂ T=
—% 7/\¢EH “‘
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 20184 June 2028 2,800,000 - - - — 2,800,000
ZZ-\FXALH - \EXAREE
ZEZ\ERAMA
Leung Kwong Choi 5 June 2018 0317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 1,500,000 — — — — 1,500,000
RES ZZ-N\EXARER -\ ARAZE
—7—A¢AEEH
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUBTES
Ong Chi King 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
TFH ZZ-N\EXAER Z-\§ ARAZ
—7—A¢AEEH
Wong Kwai Sang 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 20184 June 2028 1,000,000 - - - — 1,000,000
BEE “Z-\EXAAA —Z- Aiﬂﬂﬂﬁi
ZEZN\ERAEA
Heung Chee Hang, Eric 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 1,000,000 - — - - 1,000,000
EEE ZZ-\FXRER - \EXAREE
ZEZN\EXAEA
Employees and Others
BIRHEM
An employee 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - - - — 14,142,817
—%81 “E-RF@A=t+ZH “F-N¥EA-t-HZ
ZECREMAZT-A
Employees and others 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 18,700,000 - = - — 18,700,000
BIRAM “Z-N\EXARER Z-\E ARAZ
—7—A¢AEEH
105,114,085 — = = — 105,114,085
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The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the
date of grant of the options were HK$0.202 and HK$0.320 on
22 April 2016 and 5 June 2018, respectively.

As at 30 June 2021, options to subscribe for an aggregate of
105,114,085 shares of the Company were outstanding,
representing 5.16% of the shares in issue of the Company as at
the date of this report.

Save as disclosed above, no option was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2021, the following persons, other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of shares and underlying shares of the
Company or its subsidiaries according to the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

RIE—ARENA -+ -_HE_ZT—N\F
NARR AR BREERERLE B HA
Z Rt W E o Bl £0.20278 7T K0.3208
77:0

RZE-_—FXA=1+H" RE KRN A
4 #105,114,0850% A% 17 zﬁ%ﬂx@éﬁﬁfﬁ

F ERRBIRAIHE AH5.16%C 1T
f& 15 o

B EXFmEESN  MEBRENFRE
B 176 SRR

FERRRIxG  HEARGRES
ZHEm

RIEFES MGG E336IKBFEZER
ft RZZFE=-—FXA=+B U TFTAZL
(PIEBEFERARAEBTERAE)RAR
RIENB AR 2D RBEBRDTHES
5% ErERIERENT

REABRBRERARGBZRE

Number of shares/underlying shares
held in the Company

PR AT R &6k 5 B E

Capacity in which

Total interest as
to % to the issued
share capital as at

30 June 2021

Name of shareholders interests are held Interest in shares Total interest (Note)

R-—B=——%

~A=+H#ER

HEECERITRAE

ZEL

BREES BAEEZRZSH % 19 #E 2= BB (BftsE)

Mr. Chu Ying Man Beneficial Owner 135,000,000 135,000,000 6.63%

KRB EnEAA

Note: Hiat -

The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company issued
share capital of 2,036,538,114 shares as at 30 June 2021.
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during
the year, was the Company or any of its associated corporations a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors or their spouses or children under 18 years of age was
granted any right to subscribe for any shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any of its associated corporations.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the following continuing connected
transactions which are subject to disclosure requirement in the
annual report under the Listing Rules:

On 20 July 2018, Harvest Top Development Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, has entered
into the Tenancy Agreement with High Brand Limited as landlord,
in respect of the leasing of the Property for a term of 2 years
commencing from 1 August 2018 with a rental of HK$176,295
per month and at the end of the lease, both Harvest Top
Development Limited and High Brand Limited agreed to extend the
lease from 31 July 2020 to 17 August 2020. As High Brand
Limited is a company which is indirectly owned as to 50% by
Ms. Ma Shu Chin, mother of Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, an executive
Director, the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company

EERERGIBRHFZERN

B Bt P B 2 BB RCAREET 8IS - AR
ﬁ&ﬂﬁ%&lﬁi@ﬁﬁJ¢Eﬁk
B BEERAREREAQRSEAE
il 75 A B 88 2 B ) 3K 18 75 i & X A a2
VEEFAEERERBREFRE+/\R
AT Z FRERTEAENARBARG
s E AR EBEE 2 E AR HES -

FREREXS

ARBICRILATHERERS
S ETRATRFERREZRE

HBE

T-NFLtA-+H AQREESE
é AEHAERERAR(EAMEF)
B 1 ﬁ@ﬂﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ
B W%ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%% BE-ZE—N\EN
A—H®R BEmF- HﬁﬁWM%%
T RHAHR - HFERBER AR B
ERAFHYRAESEHEH T _ETF LA
=t+—HERE-_Z-_ZTEFN\A++H-
HRBABRARAARRRWITEE =
FRTHAHEEETERRGEEEE 2T
BEReLTHEBEEAR 0% 2 AT BRI

and a substantial shareholder, High Brand Limited is a connected FM# 8| BHARAF AKX R 2 HiE
person of the Company under the Listing Rules and the Tenancy A=+ Mt Em#H a|J mE HEMEBX
Agreement constituted a continuing connected transaction of the AR &) Z#HE&ERE °
Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the board of
directors engaged the auditor of the Company to carry out
assurance procedures in respect of the continuing connected
transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on an Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has reported
the conclusion to the board of directors by confirming in a letter
to the effect that nothing has come to its attention that causes it
to believe that the above transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the Board;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

(3) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(4)  have exceeded the cap.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and the report of the auditor
and have confirmed that the transactions have been entered by
the Group:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such

transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Report of the Directors

EZEHRES

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 14A.72 OF THE LISTING
RULES

The related party transaction relating to rental expenses disclosed
in Note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements was a
connected transaction for which the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been met and is mentioned
in the above paragraphs. Other related party transactions taken
place in financial year ended 30 June 2021 which were disclosed
in Note 37(a) and (b) to the consolidated financial statements did
not constitute connected transactions of the Company which are
required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed "continuing connected
transaction”, no transactions, arrangement or contracts of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance, to which the Company or any its
subsidiaries was a party in which a Shareholder had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

The Board believes during the year ended 30 June 2021, the
Directors did not have interests in any businesses which compete
or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed
securities on the Stock Exchange.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had 39 employees (2020: 65
employees). The Group implements remuneration policy, bonus
and share options scheme to ensure that pay scales of its
employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the
general framework of the Group’s remuneration.

DONATIONS

During the vyear,
donations.

the Group did not make any charitable

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as disclosed in the Annual
Report, no equity-linked agreement was entered during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director, in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgment is given in his favor, or in which he is
acquitted. The Company has taken out insurance against the
liability and costs associated with defending any proceedings
which may be brought against Directors of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
enough public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of Directors.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2021 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited as auditors of the Company. A resolution will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
reappoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
Yeung Chi Hang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2021
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

The Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of
corporate governance practice. The Company stresses the
importance of maintaining the quality of the Board by ensuring
that the Directors possess a wide range of expertise and the
effective implementation of an accountability system, so as to
ensure that business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper manner.

The Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rule Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) for the year ended
30 June 2021, except the followings:

Code provisions A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman of the board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. This code
provisions also stipulate, inter alia, the role and responsibility of
the chairman of the board and the chief executive.

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was appointed as chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company on 27 January 2015.
Thereafter, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang has assumed both roles. The
directors were of the view that the vesting of the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer in the same
person can provide the Group with strong and consistent
leadership and allow for more effective planning and execution of
long-term business strategies, as well as ensuring effective
oversight of management. The directors were also of the view that
the present structure was considered to be appropriate under the
circumstances of the Company. The Board would keep review of
its current board structure from time to time.

THE BOARD

The Board is charged with the responsibility of leadership and
control of the Group. The Board promotes success of the Group
and makes decisions objectively in the best interests of the Group.

The Board'’s role is mainly to direct and supervise the affairs of the
Group, establish its strategic directions and set objectives and
business development plans. The Board authorizes the
management to manage the day-to-day business operation of the
Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the various Board committees and the Chief
Executive Officer.

The Company has developed a schedule of matters reserved to the
Board for decisions. The Board will review those arrangements on
a regular basis to ensure that the arrangements meet the needs of
the Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises eight Directors with five Executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, Mr. Wong
Po Keung, Mr. Chung Siu Wah and Mr. Chik To Pan and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Kwai
Sang, Mr. Ong Chi King and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric. There
was no change in the composition of the Board during the year.

During the year, the Board held 5 meetings, including 5 regular
meetings, and had also transacted its business by written
resolutions. The Directors participated these meetings in person or
through electronic means of communication. The attendance of
Board meetings of each Director during the year is set out as
below:

ESEZHEM

EXEelNd/\REFTEKR REEHT
EEHEERLE REA KL BRAL
£ EOEEERBBREER=RFT
FRTEFEELRLE ETTFHELERTE
HEEE-FRN BEFEGZERLEEE -

RER EFSHBTHRERE BRER
REREE WEBEMRIRBEAS
B-BEEHERNBEREFBATAREZL

ZeR -REENFRALFEESEEA
BIBIN T

Name of Directors

Number of Board meetings
attended/Number of Board
meetings held
EHEESEEEFHERY
EETESEERARY

EEHE

Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang mEELE
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RESFE
Mr. Wong Po Keung EIRE ST AE
Mr. Chung Siu Wah EAOEESE
Mr. Chik To Pan R S A
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUAKRITES
Mr. Ong Chi King FFHaEE
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEAESLE
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BAEELE

The Directors are provided with relevant information to make
informed decisions. The Board and each Director have separate
and independent access to the Company’s senior management for
information and making enquires if necessary. A Director, who
considers there is necessary to seek independent professional
advice in order to perform his duties as a Director, may convene,
or request the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) to convene, a Board meeting to approve the
consultation of independent legal or other professional adviser for
advice at the Company’s expenses.

THRREEREEBRAF
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For regular Board meeting, a notice of the meeting is sent to all
Directors at least 14 days before the intended date of meeting
and an agenda and accompanying board papers of the meeting
are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of meeting. For all other Board meeting, a notice of the
meeting together with an agenda and accompanying board papers
of the meeting are sent to all Directors in reasonable time. The
Directors also from time to time transact the Board business by
way of written resolutions.

Every Director is entitled to have access to the advice and service
of the Company Secretary with a view to ensure that the Board
procedures and applicable rules and regulations are complied
with.

All' minutes are kept by the Company and are open for
inspections by any Director during normal office hours by giving
reasonable advance notice. Minutes of the Board meetings and the
Board committee meetings record in sufficient details the matters
considered in the meetings and decisions reached. Draft and final
versions of minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee
meetings have been sent to all Directors and relevant Board
Committee members for their comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time after the relevant meetings were held.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter before the
Board, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent board
committee will be set up to deal with the matter.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s) between
the members of the Board.

Every Director has sufficient time and attention to deal with the
affairs of the Group. The Board considers the composition of
Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is
rational and appropriate and provides adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the
Group.

The Independent Non-executive Directors provide the Group with
diversified knowledge and expertise. Their suggestions, opinions
and participation in the meetings of the Board and each Board
committee bring independent opinions, suggestions and judgments
on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, development,
operations, performance, risk control and conflicts of interest, to
ensure that the interest of all shareholders are taken into account.
Information and responsibilities of all Directors are contained in
this annual report on pages 17 to 19.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer have
different roles. The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the
operation of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for managing the operations and day-to-day
management of the Group. Their functions have been clearly
divided to ensure a balanced distribution of power and authority
not concentrating on a single individual.

The Chairman of the Board is principally responsible for leading
the Board and ensures the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company. The Chairman of the Board shall ensure the Board
operates effectively and performs its proper duties and discusses
all important and proper matters in a timely manner. The
Chairman of the Board is responsible for convening Board
meetings, consulting, determining and approving the agenda of
each Board meeting, and ensuring that Directors are provided
sufficient information on current matters in a timely manner.

The Chief Executive Officer is principally responsible for the daily
operation and management of the Group’s overall operations and
implementing the Board’s operating strategy and policy and
delegating tasks to all departments for implementation so as to
realize the Board’s objectives and decisions. In addition, the Chief
Executive Officer is also responsible for coordinating close
cooperation among all departments, uniting efforts of staff and
encouraging the initiative of staff so as to ensure smooth and
effective operation of the Company’s operations and systems.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provide that the role of
chairman of the board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. This code
provisions also stipulate, inter alia, the role and responsibility of
the chairman of the board and the chief executive.

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was appointed as Chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company 27 January 2015.
Thereafter, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang has therefore assumed both
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roles.
The Directors were of the view that the vesting of the roles of BEEZERAHRRB —ALTAREESTSEENIT
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer in the same KM EEAAEERE RS E BN E
person can provide the Group with strong and consistent & (FAREBEEFRMEE RANTRS
leadership and allow for more effective planning and execution of ¥ HEEE VW HERENEEEE - EF 8
long-term business strangles, as well as ensuring effective RARARBNBERME  RELEBH
oversight of management. The Directors were also of the view & -BEF€ —E THBREHBETEZTeHR
that the present structure was considered to be appropriate under  #& °
the circumstances of the Company. The Board would keep review
of its current Board structure from time to time.
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RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, are
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Composition of the Board will be reviewed regularly by the Board
and also by the nomination committee of the Company to ensure
that it covers a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

Pursuant to the Article of Association, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi,
Mr. Wong Po Keung and Mr. Wong Kwai Sang being the existing
Directors longest in office since their last re-election, will retire by
rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Each Director had entered into an appointment letter with the
Company setting out the key terms and conditions of his
appointment. The Directors are required to refer to the relevant
key terms and conditions as set out in the Articles and Association
and the guidelines for Directors and Guide for Independent Non-
executive Directors (if applicable) published by the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term, subject to retirement by rotation under the Articles
of Association. The term of office of Mr. Wong Kwai Sang,
Mr. Ong Chi King and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric as Independent
Non-executive Director is for three years until 1 March 2024,
26 January 2023 and 15 January 2024 respectively.

The Board has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director a written annual confirmation of his independence and is
satisfied with their independence in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and are independent to the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with the term of references in accordance with the
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ong Chi King
(Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.
Mr. Ong Chi King has appropriate accounting and related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee includes:

1. to recommend to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of such auditor;

2. to consider and discuss with the external auditor the nature
and scope of audit for each year;

3. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity;

4. to review the interim and annual financial statements before
submission to the Board and to discuss any problem and
reservation arising therefrom;

5. to review the Group's financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems; and

6. to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

During the vyear, the Audit Committee had reviewed and
discussed, in accordance with its terms of reference, the financial
reporting matters with external auditor, including the review of
the interim and annual consolidated financial statements, the
internal control and the audit fee and made recommendation to
the Board for reappointment of external auditor.
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During the vyear, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings. The FR BEZXEZESRITMAGHE KB
attendance of Audit Committee meetings of each member is set HEEXZE @B W T
out below:
Number of Audit Committee
meetings attended/Number of
Name of the Audit Committee Members Audit Committee meetings held
EHEERZEEERAY
BEZZEERERSE EETERZEEETHRAE
Mr. Ong Chi King I%%ﬁzf‘ﬁi 2/2
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang HEERE 2/2
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEEBEEE 1/2
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with the term of references in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ong Chi King (Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee (as adopted
pursuant to the terms of references of the Remuneration
Committee) includes making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure of all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for development of remuneration

policy.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Remuneration
Committee done during the year:

1. to review the Company’s emolument policy and structure for
all Directors;

2. to review management’s remuneration proposal with
reference to the corporate goals and objective of the Board;
and

3. to recommend the remuneration of individual Executive

Director and Independent Non-executive Director.
During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting.

The attendance of Remuneration Committee meeting of each
member is set out below:
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Name of the Remuneration
Committee Members

Number of Remuneration
Committee meetings attended/
Number of Remuneration
Committee meetings held
EHEFMESETE A
EEBTHFMESTEHRAY

FMEEERENE

Mr. Ong Chi King FFEEE
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEEAERE
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEELE

The Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Executive Directors
and the senior management, is based on the skills, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The
remuneration packages are also determined by reference to the
Company’s performance and profitability, remuneration level in the
industry and the prevailing market conditions. The emolument
policy for Independent Non-executive Directors, mainly comprising
Directors’ fees, is subject to annual assessment with reference to
the market standard. Individual Director and the senior
management would not be involved in deciding their own
remuneration.
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Details of emoluments of Directors and the five highest-paid
employees of the Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) with the term of references in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ong Chi King (Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee includes review
of the structure, size and composition of the Board and board
diversity policy on a regular basis, assessing new candidates for
appointment as Directors and the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors and considering the retirement and re-
election of the Directors.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Nomination
Committee done during the year:

1. to assess the independence of each
executive Director;

Independent Non-
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2. to review the structure, size and composition of the Board; 2. R EETEHERE  ANEK &
and
3.  to make the recommendation of re-election of retiing 3. WMEZRIZTEANEZTCIRMEZ -
Directors to the Board.
During the year, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting. The HFR G IEZLZEB RT3 - TKE
attendance of Nomination Committee meetings of each member is HFRBEZESEH BRI M T ¢
set out below:
Number of Nomination
Committee meetings attended/
Name of the Nomination Number of Nomination
Committee Members Committee meetings held
EHFEREZESEERRE
REZEEHERSE EETREZEEEHEFRAY
Mr. Ong Chi King FFEEE 11
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEESLE 1/1
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric EEELEE 11
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedure of
appointing and re-appointing a Director. The selection criteria
used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia,
such candidate’s academic background and professional
qualifications, relevant experience in the industry, character and
integrity etc.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the nomination committee
reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board
periodically and make recommendation on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an
additional director, the nomination committee identifies or selects
candidates as recommended to the committee pursuant to the
criteria set out in the Nomination Policy. Based upon the
recommendation of the nomination committee, the Board
deliberates and decides on the appointment. In addition, every
director shall be subject to retirement by rotation or re-election at
least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election at
each annual general meeting. The nomination committee shall
review the overall contribution and service to the Company,
expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring directors,
who offered himself/herself for re-election at the annual general
meeting, to determine whether such director continues to meet
the criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands and the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company,
dividends may be paid out of the profits of the Company, or
subject to solvency of the Company, out of sums standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company. However,
no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by Directors of
the Company.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends of the
Company is subject to the approval of the Directors of the
Company, depending on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as
well as any other factors which the Directors of the Company may
consider relevant from time to time. Any future declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends of the Company may
or may not reflect the historical declarations and payments of
dividends and will be at the absolute discretion of the Directors of
the Company. The Company does not have any predetermined
dividend payout ratio.

44 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

2 B WK

EFEeTCRARBBR(REEE] -
ZRREIEZEREEREENRBEREN
B -fPAAZBERMERMRAZB#HERE
BRANENEMESREXRER EXM
&R miERETE-

REBERZERR REZE8STHENES
CMRE RERAK YREFSNET
MEREHREER  URGARFANE
R

EAVNBEMEREZRARTERIES
B RREZEBSBREBEEABRRPEIIN
SEIRNEZEETZEENHREA -
RERZZEENEZR EFEFRALR
EER U BREZRAELIE=FHK
BEREXBESTE YHEEBRREFHR
RBEFRG@LBEET -RBREBESA
BIRBRRAEFAS LEEEENRIES
HARRZERBEMMRYE EXAE M
XA NHEETREEFTCHETAR
BBURFT# 2 2R

Bz BB R

RERSBHESRFAERARAEBERRKR
MEAA - IREAAAREENPIKN
HERRBEMENART  ARQF K
iEERPAERARTRIKN - A - RS
TRENARBESEMEZR 2SR -

EREEZXNARRBEASARAE
SHE MARRBFHERST  BURR
LEXE -2EBEES WHRR - REH
SREBEAREBS ARARAEERATE
HEMEMEMEE TRAARKRE R &
RS ARR B BOR 2 R E T RO RS
EREXMER MARAEZTHRAKE
K- ZEEXNARABRERABRBYEIB
B RRRWEAT(TFRLEFTNIRB L X -

2021 Annual Report



BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential
element in maintaining a competitive advantage. The Company has
adopted a board diversity policy in 2013.

All appointments of the members of the Board are made on their
merit in the content of the talents, skills and experience to be an
effective Board as a whole.

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition
of the Board by considering the benefits of all aspects of diversity
in order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents,
skills, experience and background on the Board.

The Nomination Committee considers candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board, including age and gender and makes
recommendations to the Board on appointment of new directors
of the Company.

The Nomination Committee also oversees the conduct of the
annual review of the effectiveness of the Board and considers the
balance of talents, skills, experience, independence and knowledge
on the Board and the diversity representation of the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has from time to time considered its policy for
corporate governance and its duties and duties of various board
committees. The Board has not established a corporate
governance committee but has performed the obligations
regarding corporate governance, including:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors;
and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14

(Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report) of the Listing Rules.
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The Directors have disclosed to the Board the number and nature
of offices held in public companies or organizations and other
signification commitments. The Board will regularly review the
contribution required by each Director to perform his
responsibilities to the Company and whether he is spending
sufficient time performing his duties.

TRAINING OF DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Director are provided with necessary information
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities under the
relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company
Secretary and representative of auditor update the Directors on
the latest development and changes regarding the Listing Rules,
accounting standards and other relevant regulatory requirements
from time to time.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. According to the records provided by the existing
Directors, all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development during the year.
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Reading regulatory
updates/attending
in house briefing

Name of Directors

Attending expert
briefing/seminars/
conference relevant
to the business/
director’s duties

HEARERS

ESHENER

HEERERTER Eheg g

EXHa SmABEEE B
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEBLEE v —
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RETRE v —
Mr. Wong Po Keung =R L& v 4
Mr. Chung Siu Wah g v v
Mr. Chik To Pan JER 38 W 5 A v —
Mr. Ong Chi King FFaEE v/ v
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang sEREERE v/ —
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEELEE v/ v/
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance for all Directors and the senior management of the
Company. The insurance covers them against costs, charges,
expenses and liabilities incurred arising out of the corporate
activities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s
Code of Conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 30 June 2021.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes its overall responsibilities for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system of the Group and risk
taking is unavoidable as part of the Group’s business. By
appropriate risk management and continuous risk monitoring, risk
taking can bring value to the Company. The Board believes that
risks are acceptable after prudent assessment of their impact and
likelihood. The Company can protect its assets and shareholders’
interests and create value simultaneously through appropriate risks
management and control measures. The system includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority, safeguards its
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensures the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication,
and ensures compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group recognise that it is necessary for identifying and
assessing the significant business, operational, financial and
compliance risks on an ongoing basis. Risk identification and
assessment should be undertaken throughout the year, but in any
event must be undertaken on an annual basis by the Audit
Committee. Risk identification involves collecting information from
the senior management to identify relevant risks and then need to
update the risk register in response to changes in its business and
the external environment. Risk assessment should include the
review of

(i)  the timely and efficient management and reporting the key
risks; and

(i) any events, incidents or trends that have arisen or might arise.

Risk evaluation and risk prioritization

Risk ranking process involves analysing the inherent likelihood and
impact of each identified risk in order to facilitate the senior
management to prioritise the identified risk items and identify the
responsible risk owners.

Risk reporting, managing and monitoring

Once the decision to mitigate the significant risk has been made
and the strategy is identified, a mitigation plan should be
developed. After the plan is implemented the residual risk is
evaluated and is subject to monitoring. Once the plan is in place
and the system is running, the effectiveness of the plan will be
monitored, reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The ongoing
monitoring program will be checked if risk priority numbers have
changed to either higher or lower values. All employees can write
down observations and to make recommendations. They can also
make a recommendation if the change should be implemented
urgently if it is time critical. The senior management evaluates the
recommendations made by the employees and reports to board in
timely manner.

48 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

,FEE’:‘%EEEII HEREEEXERZE
T

ZIK%TJ%E?FS\' AR BB E”‘HEEK%
7o 2B BB kaRER - ER#ER &
‘Hﬁi’h\ FHET EER ZZDH/AEE%V
ZEegFET ARBNFLEESRE
BEWSEER AR EERR- 7*«%%
YRR JEHMW&QI\*W&% """""
8 mRFAEERRE

i) EREREERERBRERE: &

(i) DHBRKAEHBOETMEF SR

B B 5 1 K% JEL B 5% 18 X R

[k 3 ARB AR Ko o AT & B 2 3B R L B Y
BBt T E - LA@%’&EI@F%E
plEfIEE S ERBRAT  LHAAER
ARBEOAL -

EIGER EEREBE

—BORERMEE AR R M E# R R’
BRI AR AR AT 8] o SR B 1R %a%%ﬂ
PRER - WANAEEE - G &I R R R
g AREHEER *ﬁﬁ&ﬂﬁﬂhw
beﬂmW& BERSH B RRER
REBRRAFHEEACRKERKSHBE
ﬁ %%EETET%W#%&Wﬁﬁ%
R E R ABAYNRE  KEN
Thﬁﬁ%Lm SREREFEREEE
HRERES YRERNEESRE -

2021 Annual Report



Procedures for the handling and dissemination of
inside information

The Group is committed to a consistent practice of time, accurate
and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information. To
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure relation to the Group, procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

1. When any employee becomes aware of any actual or potential
Inside Information, he/she must immediately inform any
member of the Disclosure Working Group comprising the
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Legal
Counsel.

2. Meeting of Disclosure Working Group shall be convened to
conduct preliminary assessment of the information received.

3. The Disclosure Working Group reviews and decides whether
the information must be disclosed, as well as when and how
the information shall be released and makes
recommendation to the Board.

4. The Board reviews the recommendation of the Disclosure
Working Group and approves the issue of an announcement
and any other documents as appropriate.

Main features of the internal control system

A professional advisory firm was also appointed as the Group's
outsourced internal audit function to conduct a review on the
Group’s internal control systems at the corporate level and
business level on certain agreed control areas as stated in a three
year internal control review plan to the management and
endorsed by the board and audit committee.
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The scope of the internal control review carried out during the
year includes:

a) understand how a control procedure is carried out during the
period from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 through discussion
with the management, and reading relevant policies and
procedures;

b) consider and comment on whether a control procedure has
been designed and implemented effectively by determining
whether it exists at a specific point in time. This is achieved
by reading policies and procedures, reviewing minutes,
reports, organisational charts and other supporting
documentation, and by performing selected walkthrough and
tests of samples;

Q) draw to the Company’s attention to any significant control
design and implementation weaknesses and deficiencies
which come to its attention based on the limited procedures
it agree to perform;

d) provide recommendations to address the identified control
design (in particular to corporate governance and cash
receipt handling policy) and implementation weaknesses and
deficiencies; and

e)  perform a follow-up review after the Company has responded
to the findings stated in the Report. The final Report will be
issued after the follow-up procedures have been completed.

The report and recommendations have been submitted to the
board and follow-up action has been taken based on
recommendations, which will be monitored by the board.

The Audit Committee reviewed adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

The board’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit
review activities mentioned in the aforesaid paragraphs, the board
was of the opinion that the Company had maintained an effective
risk management mechanism and internal control system during
the financial year ended 30 June 2021.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERBHRE

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lo Tai On who has been engaged
and appointed by the Company from an external secretarial
services provider.

The primary contact persons with the Company Secretary are
Mr. Wong Po Keung, an Executive Director and the financial
controller of the Company, and Ms. Leung Siu Hing, a senior
officer of the Company. The Company Secretary has duly complied
with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group in
presenting the interim and annual consolidated financial
statements and announcements to the Shareholders. The Directors
aim to present a clear and understandable assessment of the
Group's position and prospects.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to present a clear and
understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports, other inside information announcements and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and to report
to the regulators.

The responsibility of the external auditor with respect to the
financial reporting and its audit opinion are set out in the section
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 55 to 59.

REMUNERATION OF THE AUDITOR

For the year, the remuneration in respect of audit services
provided by auditor of the Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited, was HK$1,000,000.

The non-audit service provided by auditor of the Company is
detailed as follows:
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
the Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to the Shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars.

The general meetings of the Company are valuable forum for the
Board to communicate directly with the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”). The Shareholders are encouraged
to attend the general meetings of the Company.

An annual general meeting of the Company was held on
11 December 2020 (the “2020 AGM"). A notice convening the
2020 AGM contained in a circular of the Company dated
30 October 2020 was dispatched to the Shareholders together
with the 2020 Annual Report.

The attendance of general meetings held during the year of each
Director is set out below:
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Name of Directors

Number of general meetings
attended/Number of general
meetings held
EHFREXERE
ERTHREXERH

EENE

Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEELE
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RETRE
Mr. Wong Po Keung BEREEE
Mr. Chung Siu Wah RS
Mr. Chik To Pan R 38 5 A
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFPITES
Mr. Ong Chi King I%%ﬁ(ﬁ‘ﬁi
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEEAETE
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BAEELE

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be
held on 1 December 2021 (the “2021 AGM”). A notice convening
2021 AGM will be published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange, the Singapore Stock Exchange and the Company and
dispatched together with the 2021 Annual Report to the
Shareholders as soon as practicable in accordance with the Article
of Association and the CG Code.

During the year, there was no change in the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
at such place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM"). Set out below are
procedures by which Shareholders may (a) convene an EGM; (b)
put forward enquires to the Board; and (c) put forward proposals
at general meetings. The procedures are subject to the Articles of
Association and applicable legislation and regulation.

— Procedures for Shareholders to convene EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the business to be
transacted at the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and
deposited at the Company’s registered office (with a copy of
the said written requisition deposited at the Company’s
Hong Kong office) for the attention of the Board or the
Company Secretary, and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. The
requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements under
the Articles of Association to all the registered Shareholders.

On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as
invalid, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.

If within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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The notice period to be given to all the registered
Shareholders for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according to the
nature of the proposal, as follows:

—  Not less than 14 clear days’ and not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company;
and

—  Not less than 21 clear days’ and not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes a special resolution of the Company.

Procedures for putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or
by email to info@cergroup.com.hk for the attention of the
Board.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the
Company, a Shareholder should lodge a written request,
duly signed by the Shareholder concerned, setting out the
proposals at the Company’s registered office (with a copy of
the said written request lodged at the Company’s Hong
Kong office) for the attention of the Board and the
Company Secretary. The request will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will pass the request to the Board.

Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion, unless the proposal
put forward by a Shareholder is (i) pursuant to a requisition
by a Shareholder to convene an EGM referred to above or
(i) forms part of ordinary business to be considered at an
annual general meeting as described in Article 75 of the
Articles of Association.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election

as

Director are posted on the Company’'s website at

http://www.cergroup.com.hk.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
PRIREERKREAFRAT
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Environmental Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 60 to 143, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 30 June 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement,

in our professional
were of most significance in our audit of the

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

matters were addressed

in the context of our audit of the

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. We have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

N

56

Investment properties and biological assets

Refer to notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group measured its investment properties and biological
assets at fair value and fair value less costs to sell,
respectively, with the changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. These fair value measurements are significant
to our audit because the balances of investment properties
of approximately HK$267,534,000 as at 30 June 2021 and
biological assets of approximately HK$264,209,000 as at
30 June 2021 and the corresponding loss from changes in
fair value less costs to sell of biological assets of
approximately HK$8,245,000 for the year then ended are
material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Group’s fair value measurements involve application of
judgements and are based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuers engaged by client;

— Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting
with the external valuers to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgements and
assumptions applied in the valuation models;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the

valuation models to supporting evidence;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation models;
and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement
in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurements of the

investment properties and biological assets are supported by
the available evidence.
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(m

Intangible assets (I EREEE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements. IR A AR & B A Rk MY 5E20 o

The Group tested the amount of intangible assets for EEEEHENEESBETRENR

impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit Ao LREAREEECEREER

because the balance of intangible assets of approximately A J?IKEB’\_?_ FRA=T

HK$89,893,000 as at 30 June 2021 is material to the B - | & E #) A 8R4 /389,893,000

consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's BT HIRAVBHREREEE MW - ik

impairment test involves application of judgement and is She BEEBERBRENR S RERH

based on assumptions and estimates. i 3 E N R KA E

Our audit procedures included, among others: EENEZEFEE(EREE)

—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment; — HE EfEBEZREFMG

—  Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow — UEREERFeRERFERE
projections; TEOAl

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions — HHEERRFR(BFkEEE -
(including revenue growth, profit margins, terminal AR KB RE KRR X)
growth rates and discount rates); B &M

—  Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the — BEX® BESREREERFGEZ
Group’s impairment assessment; BN L ETE R

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity — FIEREPZEMINBIEER
of the external valuer engaged by client; e WM RBE

—  Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting — WS EBEERS - I EINE
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the HERZE: S ER
valuation process, methodologies used and market e 3’71‘5@73}2 X &
evidence to support significant judgements and ANHE ™5 EE - A REE
assumptions applied in the valuation model; RAMEANBSR  LREE

Rt

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; — BRHERANENMERE:
and K

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the — ERHEREPHNEERR
valuation model to supporting evidence. BABEBERNZFEE -

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for intangible EERR EEENEVEEREAR

assets is supported by the available evidence. HAEHBEFBI X
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon. The other information is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this
auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/
auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05498

Hong Kong, 30 September 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

Hith 2 HE W m R

%:An\/

For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHZE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE

2021 2020
—T-—f —_T_EF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’'000
ks FHET FAET
Revenue Uiz 25 7 77,878 75,406
Cost of sales 5 & AR (58,011) (56,620)
Gross profit EFH 19,867 18,786
Other income H A 9 2,739 964
Administrative and operating THREERX
expenses (41,210) (45,001)
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment #EWE 2 AL E
properties Wz, (E18) 8 1,900 (15,322)
Loss arising from changes in fair EMBEERRBEEZERE
value less costs to sell of HEXNREEZEE
biological assets 19 (8,245) (4,814)
Net loss on fair value changes on AR EFABZEZ
investments at fair value through REZRAEEE 2
profit or loss BB (4,733) (2,914)
Provision for impairment loss of FEREEERERE
right-of-use assets B (9,549) —
Provision for impairment loss of BEAEREBEERE
intangible assets 20 (3,800) =
Provision for impairment loss of GFERERERE
inventories (404) —
Provision for impairment loss of FEWFIE R EEERE
receivables 23 24 (4,152) (6,337)
Loss from operations LEEE (47,587) (54,638)
Finance costs Bl & K AR 10 (2,469) (2,144)
Loss before tax B #imi s 18 (50,056) (56,782)
Income tax credit ST % 11 1,114 1,008
Loss for the year EEBRE 2 (48,942) (55,774)
Other comprehensive income/ BRBEHGEEE
(loss) after tax: (B548) :
Item that may be reclassified to A REEF D2 R 2
profit or loss: HE
Exchange differences on translation 2 E /8N 75 2 [E 5
of foreign operations EH 30,913 (12,423)
Other comprehensive income/ FhHEbEEKE
(loss) for the year, net of tax (E548) (BRBi1E) 30,913 (12,423)
Total comprehensive loss FSEZAEBEEEE
for the year (18,029) (68,197)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEakEMEERER

For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE=ZZT-_—FA=+HIFE

2021 2020
—T-—F —E_TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’'000
i F#ET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: T3 A TFE{GEEEIE :
Owners of the Company KABIHEE A (46,102) (55,558)
Non-controlling interests FEE R (2,840) (216)
(48,942) (55,774)
Total comprehensive loss for TIHAATEEEERZE
the year attributable to: BS54 % -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEETE? P =N (16,058) (67,610)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 iR #E (1,971) (587)
(18,029) (68,197)
Loss per share BhiEEE 14
Basic (HK cents per share) BEAR(FRBW) (2) (3)
Diluted (HK cents per share) #5E (FRRBAL) (2) 3)

TERREREEERAR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R R

Asat30June2021 R-ZZE-—F,A=+H

2021 2020
—E-—%f —EFF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ol TFi#&T THE T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERERE 16 7,740 10,203
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 21,716 28,057
Investment properties "EY 18 267,534 259,002
Biological assets EYEE 19 264,209 248,759
Intangible assets EWEE 20 89,893 90,792
Goodwiill EES 21 1,087 1,087
Investments at fair value through BAREFAERZ
profit or loss wE 25 17,203 —
Loans receivable & E 3K 24 — 3,380
669,382 641,280
Current assets RHEE
Inventories 5B 22 25,264 22,804
Trade and other receivables JE L BR 3k R H At FE U
KA 23 60,728 66,859
Loans receivable fE W E = 24 12,142 14,808
Investments at fair value through BAREFAERZ
profit or loss & 25 1,129 1,696
Refundable secured deposit AREERFZS 26 12,000 12,000
Bank and cash balances R1T MR & & 19,005 2,951
130,268 121,118
Current liabilities REARE
Trade and other payables JE 11 BR 3R R E Ath FE A
HIA 27 32,987 31,723
Contract liabilities EXEE 6,700 4,834
Lease liabilities HEAR 28 10,948 4,085
Borrowings EE 29 71,787 26,000
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 29 — 3,679
Current tax liabilities BNEARi B & & 2,867 3,115
125,289 73,436
Net current assets RBEERE 4,979 47,682
Total assets less current BEHERRHER
liabilities 674,361 688,962
Non-current liabilities EREBER
Lease liabilities HEEE 28 26,600 26,310
Borrowings & 3K 29 — 1,500
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 30 88,060 83,420
114,660 111,230
NET ASSETS AEFE 559,701 577,732
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

Asat30June2021 R-ZZE-—F,A=+H

2021 2020
—T-—f —_T_EF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’'000
M &t FET FAT
Capital and reserves BERRMEE

Share capital N 37 40,731 40,731
Reserves ki 508,364 524,427

Equity attributable to owners RNAGIHER NEMLER
of the Company 549,095 565,158
Non-controlling interests FE 17 % = 10,606 12,574
TOTAL EQUITY HEEE 559,701 577,732

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 143 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
30 September 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yeung Chi Hang

mBEIE
Director

EF

FOENBEFEGEYEBRRNEESS
RZE_—FAA=TEHREREET
T OUVHUATEERREZTSEE

TERREREEERAR

Leung Kwong Choi

REFX
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ReEmRB Bk

For the year ended 30 June 2021

HE-_T_—FA=+HLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATHEAAES
Foreign
Share Share-based  currency Non-
Share  premium  Statutory Capital compensation translation Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
i3} SMER B
&% BER AERE RAEE ROMNERE HE  RiER BE FERER 8%
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TR FEL THET TAR TEL TR TEL TR TEL
At 1 July 2019 RZZ-N%F
tA-AR 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 15,843 39,684 (679,474) 632,768 13,161 645,929
Total comprehensive loss for EE2HAFELE
the year — - — - — (12,052) (55,558) (67,610) (587) (68,197)
Share options lapsed BARZBERE = = = = (3,213) - 3213 — — —
At 30 June 2020 WZZZ%E
~NAZTH 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 27,632 (731,819) 565,158 12,574 577,732
At 1 July 2020 WZZZ%E
tA-H 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 27,632 (731,819) 565,158 12574 577,732
Total comprehensive income/  F 8 2 BN/
(loss) for the year (BB Bz — - — - - 30,044 (46,102)  (16,058) (1971)  (18,029)
Purchase of non-controlling B B JE{2 R #4
interests — - - - - - (5) (5) 3 @
At 30 June 2021 R-B--%
~NA=TH 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 57,676 (777,926) 549,095 10,606 559,701
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2021 HEZZT-_—FSA=+HIFE

2021 2020
—T-—f —_T_EF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FAET
Cash Flows from Operating REEEEFEHH
Activities HEeEReE
Loss before tax B B4 A B 18 (50,056) (56,782)
Adjustments for: BT EERE
Finance costs A& KR 2,469 2,144
Depreciation e 9,308 9,976
Amortisation of intangible assets EE EH 5,133 4,866
Loss on disposals of property, LEME - BE KRR
plant and equipment 2 EE 81 794
Fair value (gain)/loss on KREMEZ R RE
investment properties (Wz) B8 (1,900) 15,322
Loss arising from changes in fair EMBEEARBEED
value less costs to sell of W E AR E £ 2
biological assets &5 18 8,245 4,814
Net loss on fair value changes on ¥R A B ABZEZ
investments at fair value WEZRAREEZE
through profit or loss Z BB FE 4,733 2,914
Provision for impairment loss of FREEEREBERIE
right-of-use assets BiE 9,549 —
Provision for impairment loss of | EERERIE
intangible assets B 3,800 —
Impairment loss of inventories FEREEBEREE 404 —
Provision for impairment loss of FE W SR IR R E B 18
receivables B 4,152 6,337
Operating loss before working LEEREPRI2KE
capital changes & 18 (4,082) (9,615)
Change in inventories FE% (2,864) 361
Change in trade and other JE U BR 3R R E At fE Uk
receivables FIE 2 F) 6,131 (7,956)
Change in loans receivable FEWE RE 1,894 6,778
Change in investments at fair BRARnEFFABRZ
value through profit or loss ®E & — 273
Change in trade and other JRE 1<t B R e B At A
payables SKIE# E) 1,262 7,260
Change in contract liabilities EHEEES 1,866 2,632
Cash generated from/(used in) EHB/ (A BEE
operations 4,207 (267)
Income tax paid ARG (2,427) (450)
Net cash generated from/(used $E&;EFEFE (FIH)
in) operating activities REFE 1,780 (717)
FRIREEREEERAR Z—T-—F5#H 65



For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHZE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE

2021 2020
—T-—f —_T_EF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
ks FHET FAET
Cash Flows from Investing REBREFTHH
Activities HE&ER=E
Purchases of property, plant and BEME BEREE
equipment (857) (6,822)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE  HE K& &
plant and equipment Z PTG kIE 18 591
Purchases of investments at fair BERAALBEFAER
value through profit or loss Z®E (6,069) =
Net cash used in investing BRETEHMANRESFSE
activities (6,908) (6,231)
Cash Flows from Financing REREFEER
Activities HE&ER=E
Borrowings raised BEEEEX 88,000 6,500
Repayment of borrowings BEER (59,013) (1,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREARE (2,942) (3,767)
Lease interests paid BERHEEFE (130) (440)
Interests paid 2 FLE (1,335) (1,152)
Net cash generated from REEHMBREFESHE
financing activities 24,580 141
Net increase/(decrease) in cash HE&RZERIALIEH
and cash equivalents ¥ GRd) B 19,452 (6,807)
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNEBE R FE) ) 2 &
changes 281 528
Cash and Cash Equivalents at FzREeEREFRRE
Beginning of year 1HH (728) 5,551
Cash and Cash Equivalents at FRZBEERERREE
end of year IHH 19,005 (728)
Analysis of Cash and ReRkERKEEIEH
Cash Equivalents S
Bank and cash balances RIT MR & & 19,005 2,951
Bank overdrafts RITEX 29 — (3,679)
19,005 (728)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a5 B B AR MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 HEZZT-_—FSA=+HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Environmental Resources Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Ugland House, South Church Street, P.O. Box 309, George
Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West Indies.
The address of its principal place of business is Room 2608,
26/F., Greenfield Tower, Concordia Plaza, No.1 Science
Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and Singapore Exchange Limited.

During the year, the Company’s principal activity is
investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company and its subsidiaries hereinafter are
collectively referred to as the “Group”.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 July 2020. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”), and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The application of these
new HKFRSs will not have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021
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HE-_T_—FA=+HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of biological assets, which are carried at their fair
values less costs to sell, and investment properties and
investments at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at their fair values. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors of
the Company to exercise their judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

3.

2021 Annual Report

BHEEREXEBEE

SREH

RAEMBRRDIBBEEBGFIMAE
P c BEAMBRELA - FERQ
REFRUAINRBEBEIZAAERRA
Al@Es EMARR(TEMMRA) REE
RAVGHIAREZ EREERE -

A MR O ARBE 2 KA1 Bl iR
BOUWREMEEZEHEEIER
AREREEXAIE)  UWEREY
ENMBAAEFABRGZZRE (ME
B ARBENEFLRAE -Ea M
BHEDRET (BT 25 K5
BHEAN  MBEBEDZBREREN
FARIE -

RETEHBMBHREER RS
MBHRREAERSE TEERE LA
it BBRARREZREAB SR
RZBIERIELFE - BRAYRER
LG HESGEAMBREAMEBE
R HBEE KM EARRE -

ERNREGAVBRRBER ZEKR
SEBRIIEANT -



For the year ended 30 June 2021

BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
30 June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021
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HE-_T_—FA=+HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to the owners of the Company.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities
incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the
costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are
measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is added to the
cost of acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognised in other
comprehensive income (for example, equity investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income), the amount
that was recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised on the same basis as would be required if the
previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. The method of measuring
impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of
“impairment of assets” as stated in the accounting policy
below. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
(“CGU") that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+tHILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS$,
which is the Company’'s functional currency and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and

financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average (i)
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case incomes and expenses are
rates on the

translated at the exchange
transaction dates); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised (iii)
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

liabilities for each statement of (i)
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of

BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE
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translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss

on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

closing rate.
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+tHILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rates are as follows:

The shorter of 20%-33% or
over the remaining
unexpired terms of the

Leasehold improvements

leases
Furniture, fixtures and 19%-33%
equipment
Cruiser 30%
Motor vehicles 30%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
are measured initially at their cost including all direct costs
attributable to the properties.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of the investment properties are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the

difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rate is as follows:
Land and buildings 5%-50%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets

(a) Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation of intangible assets is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of
30 years.

(b) Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives of 30.6 years.

Biological assets

A biological asset is defined as a living plant managed by
the Group which is involved in the agricultural activity of the
transformation of biological assets for sale, into agricultural
produce, or into additional biological assets.

Biological assets comprise standing timbers in Mainland
China, which are stated at fair value less costs to sell at
initial recognition and at the end of each reporting period.
The gain or loss arising on initial recognition, and
subsequent change in fair values less costs to sell of
biological assets is recognised in profit or loss in the
reporting period in which it arises. Costs to sell are the
incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an
asset, excluding finance costs and taxes. Standing timber is
transferred to inventory at its fair value less costs to sell at
the date of harvest.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. REEEREXETHRE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Inventories 5E
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable FEURANEATERFEMREP 2R
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis for BEANR -RBERWIBME - AR
motor vehicles and tyres. Cost is determined using the NAREEDNEEETFE -BKREE &
weighted average basis for recycled metals, golden flower ERERERABE MG (ERBERIN 2K
tea products and accessories of motor vehicles other than RNERMEFHELEETE - ZEKR KR
tyres. The cost of finished goods and work in progress FREGZHKABERME - EHT
comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate B HEHfIzFREREEEERMN
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and Ro#ERHER) - IR RFETY
where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable BIEREXBEER 2B EERMG
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 5T 5E AR AN R Ad 5T & BT &R B AR AT
business, less the estimated costs of completion and the o
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
Recognition and derecognition of financial BRERZILEIZEMTIA
instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the MARET TREESHIERZETAT -
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group AlemEEREMABERGS BN
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the MRHER o
instruments.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights RBBMEERSRE 2B HEFE
to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group \% REBEEEERBRE BRI
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership SR RE R kA& lﬂiﬂﬁuﬁﬁ
of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains 71% BEEBREREZEBRED &
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the Bl BNRBEEZIE %M%EET R
assets but has not retained control on the assets. On IEREMEE - RIEEA-HLH
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between BER é?ﬁﬁﬁfﬁiﬁiﬁ%ﬁ{gé@gﬁ
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 2z EEREBERENES
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation W& #RT B 2 B (E AR BR ~ R 8H
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or e - AR IEERERAGE - B8 1L
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the HReHAEREEHEENREZHE
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is WEFERBERARR -
recognised in profit or loss.
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+tHILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are
initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost; and

— Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
(a) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade, loans and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)
(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they
do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for
trade and loans receivables or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+tHILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade and loans receivables)
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit
losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the
required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised product or service exceeds one year, the
consideration is adjusted for the effect of a significant
financing component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms of
a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave and long service leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group
and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5%
of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly
maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per
employee and vest fully with employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") are
members of a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute certain percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and wages to the central
pension scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The
local municipal government undertakes to assume the
retirement benefits obligations of all existing and
future retired employees of these subsidiaries. The only
obligation of these subsidiaries with respect to the
central pension scheme is to meet the required
contributions under the scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by
applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees

The fair value of services received is determined by reference
to the fair value of the share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based
compensation reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
corresponding amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
corresponding amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. REEEREXETHRE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation BIE
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and PG BN EATH 18 MR AE T TH 4R &E o
deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the IR B TR IR T 1% 5 2 FE AR B v A BT
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or H - BRBARNTREEMER 2B
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are RIS R < A S ZIEE - 7h
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes T@%—H’F%T/\%YTTT’ET%IETDMZ
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s THH - WERE ST RERE R RE - A
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have SEABMBEAEBERENBRENR
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the BIEEI AR R L o B RFTE -
reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the Lﬁlﬁlﬁ,ﬁ?éﬁﬁﬁ“#&%ﬁqﬁF&E
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated fiﬁﬁﬁﬁ,\u B R m A BB A A8
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in JE?R%Z%%E%MEEE REFIE A
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are BE—REZMEERTERME=HRE
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences R MELERIAE ERRR AT AL H Al
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it REHHEAT BTN ERE RBAN
is probable that taxable profits will be available against BE B AR ATIAE 28 ERT R
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or P T T AR - WEREHEHEE
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities AR MR — TP 2 B AR kA 3K
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from B afMeXR s HEMEERBE
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a (XBEHBRINFEEL  AIBEBEE
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a aEDNTHER-
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary BERBAGERAKB AR Z&RERN
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except EFXERAVEREZETUAER &4
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the SEBRNE %'Jﬁﬁﬂtﬁﬁﬁﬁé@ g
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary B ZFER A g g pd Al R i sk ¢ = Al
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. BRAN o
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at BERIBEE CREABEDRESRESR
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent AETRE - LT ABEIR BEE
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits TE T 8L A B 40 e SR B00% A Al i =]
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be ZE KD EERIE
recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected BEEFIARBE R RS AR E 5T 3k
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the A AT 2B X REHERARE
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted BEEXEEERAM M ETE -
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. ’ELTRIEEATEmEPﬁEw ﬁ?#?_kﬁ
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it BRIREMEE R IEEN ER
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income WR2IEE - EEZ DI iE LR = W)
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also B E M 2 TE W 5 sk B B R s R R
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in R e
equity.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the
Group whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment
properties are measured based on the expected manner as to
how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group's
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(A)

(B)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)
(B) (Continued)

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets except biological assets,
investment properties, investments, inventories, receivables
and goodwill to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes when material.

TERREREEERAA

3.

GHEEEREXGBEGE)

BERIAREE

EAKERBESHARERABLE
BEESMEEE METZEMERA
EFEMNHREN R WA bt H
BER IRAEERBEXEHE LA
EREREE - HEexKHEEBEX
ARBEMETZEEMEXHZEE
Bl ¥R B

ETAAIRER BN HQEN S - K
BUEERBE I SEME AT - BRI th B A
S A EEE)  BRIREERER
SRR E - BBEREZHFEEEN
—REABEARKFRBFERTEERK

BE - BRIE R & 2 Al B 1R
N BRITBEESIAAE -
BEMEER

R A AN & B & HRA R 2 B
ERSBRHELERRETEEZ
HEMREFARAESTEH  INEE
MHWMAR - JEFBRER 2 ME B
BREHMBEKR  AIRXMEARE -

—E-—F5H 89



For the year ended 30 June 2021

20

HE-_T_—FA=+HLEE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

(c)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different to those previously estimated, or it
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Fair value less costs to sell of biological assets
and fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed independent professional valuers
to assess the fair value less costs to sell of biological
assets and fair value of investment properties. In
determining the fair values, the valuers have utilised a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates.
The directors have exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of
the current market conditions.

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for intangible assets at the end of each
reporting period. Such assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. To calculate
the fair value less costs of disposal, the management
estimates the expected future cash flows from the
assets or CGU and chooses a suitable discount rate in
order to derive the present value of those cash flows.

4.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of its trade, loans and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness, collateral
security, financial condition and past collection history
of each debtor. Impairments arise where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible. The identification of bad and
doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade, loans and other receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed. If the financial conditions
of the debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and Mainland China. Significant estimates are required
in determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling expense.
These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions. The Group will
reassess the estimates by the end of each reporting
period.
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FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 5.

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in HK$ and
Renminbi which are the functional currencies of the
principal operating entities of the Group. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

(b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in respect of
its investments at fair value through profit or loss. The
directors manage this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk profiles. The
Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on
equity instruments quoted in the Stock Exchange.

At 30 June 2021, if the share prices of the
investments increased/decreased by 10%, the Group’s
post tax loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$94,000 (2020: HK$142,000) lower/
higher, arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of
the investments.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2021 Annual Report
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

5. SRMRELEEEEE)

Credit risk (o) EEREME
The carrying amounts of bank and cash equivalents, mEMBRARPRITRER
trade and other receivables, loans receivable, fﬁfﬁlﬁﬁ ‘E‘%Hﬁlﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁ@ﬁ
investments at fair value through profit or loss and WHE BRER -ZARE
refundable secured deposit included in the :#7\?5 Z?xﬁ&TL%&ETEﬁ
consolidated statement of financial position represent bk %E’Jﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁlwfﬁ
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in EI%F&T\QFEEWWE—W =
relation to the Group’s financial assets. ]y
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RREBRR AEBEETE
certain concentration of credit risk as approximately B RER - AAANEEEIR
75% (2020: 76%) and 96% (2020: 97%) of its trade R AKT5% (ZE_FF :
receivables were due from the largest customer and 76% ) K96% (= & — T 4F:
the five largest customers, respectively. The Group has %) REAREBZAEP K
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to AAREF - AEERHB BURE
customers with an appropriate credit history. In REEDNRBTHBESHEEE
addition, the directors review the recoverable amounts RECER W BEEEH
of each individual trade and loan debt regularly to BEEEESGREREH 2T
ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised el & 5 - AREIR B 3L AT UK
for irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the directors Bl EHHEREHREERE -5
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly s EFRAEAEEZE
reduced. B b K g K o
The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the 1 TT SRR S f)fJ—H‘MﬁBE JR
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings REH5EFREBRBEERT
assigned by international credit-rating agencies. %&%%ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ,\%i&mfﬂﬂ °
The credit risk on investments at fair value through EARBF A Bm 2 RENE
profit or loss is limited because the counterparties are ERBER REEXZHF
well-established securities broker firms and an F%E/%ﬁ_LERE’\] GRS ERYN
insurance company in Hong Kong. —ERBERA A
The Group obtains collateral from the vendor to Z’SEIQEEHX EHm - A
minimise the credit risk in respect of the refundable WA RECEKFIZENEER
secured deposit. EHS@ o
TEREEREBERAR ZT|Z—FF%H 93
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FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period by
comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

— internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower;

— significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

— significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrower.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset is
when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 90 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where loans
or receivables have been written off, the Group, if
practicable and economical, continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.

5.
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the
loss provision is determined for each of the categories.
In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category and
adjusts for forward looking data.

5. SRREEEREE(R)

(c)

SE b (&)

AEBEGLIEE S EEERED
N fE 2R Bl - DA SR BR ECE B AL B
K a0 AR sk & KB Rl B E & 1R B
-t ERHAGEEEEXE
REBEZEEEBH 2 ESLEE
= WH BT MEBBRELAE -

Category Definition Loss provision

=R E&® BEEE

Performing Low risk of default and strong 12 month expected losses
capacity to pay

RiF B A BB R & 2 88 58 1218 AE B & 18

Non-performing

TR

Significant increase in credit risk
EERRERZFIL N

All of these receivables are considered to have low risk
and under the ‘Performing’ category because they have
a low risk of default and have strong ability to meet
their obligations.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

TERREREEERAR

Lifetime expected losses
T HIEHER

(d)

P B &% & B R TR R AR 5 K R
S HBIRIFIER  HTREE
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHZE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE

5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 5. £RRE£EMGERE(4)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) wENEEREE(E)
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities rEEeRBERAEE g
based on the earliest date the Group can be required WERZHRTE B E 23 H
to pay is as follows: BoMfmT :
Between Total
Less than 1and 2 undiscounted Carrying
1 year years cash flow amount
RUEFRRS
PiE 1225 HEEE FREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHT FHT THET
At 30 June 2021 R-B-—-§$~"A=1H
Trade and other payables & 151 BR 30 % L At FE 5 3K IE 32,987 — 32,987 32,987
Borrowings fBR 71,787 — 71,787 71,787
104,774 — 104,774 104,774
At 30 June 2020 R-F-FE~A=t+H
Trade and other payables & AT BR 0 % L At BB Y 3K IE 31,723 = 31,723 31,723
Borrowings RN 26,000 1,500 27,500 27,500
Bank overdrafts RITEX 3,679 = 3,679 3,679
61,402 1,500 62,902 62,902
The maturity analysis of the Group’s borrowings based AEEBRREBEERBEME
on scheduled repayments dates as set out in the loan MBEEREBHZEHA DN
agreements is as follows: N
Total
Less than Between 1 Between 2 undiscounted Carrying
1year and 2years and 5years Over 5 years cash flow amount
RERRE
PRE 152 2E5E BiEsE RELE fREE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FHL TET TET FHL TET TET
At 30 June 2021 R=¥=-§xA=tH
Borrowings &k 20,163 4,481 13,443 44,063 82,150 71,787
At 30 June 2020 RZF-FE7A=+H
Borrowings & 26,764 1,500 = = 28,264 27,500
Bank overdrafts RITEX 3,679 = = = 3,679 3,679
30,443 1,500 - - 31,983 31,179
(e) Interest rate risk (e) Fl =[P
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that AAREERAE ARTEHF
the Group does not have significant interest rate risk KRB AAEK - A B &
as the fluctuation in interest rates is not expected to BEAMERR AEBFET
be material. The Group will constantly review the FHHEEGR R E R =R A
economic situation and its interest rate risk profile, and & WHRAI L EREZEXR
will consider appropriate hedging measure in future as REBHE L o

96

may be necessary.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE

5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 5.

(CONTINUED)

(f)

(9)

Categories of financial instruments at 30 June
2021 and 2020

EMRESEARER (&)

) ®m=

T_—FR-F-FF

ANAZtHZEMIAER

2021 2020
—FT-—F —E_TF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHETT FAET
Financial assets SRIEE
Investments at fair value through &Z2A A7 EFF AiB2 2 &
profit or loss = 18,332 1,696
Financial assets at amortised cost IZ#E Ak ANzt 2 2 & &l
(including cash and cash EE(BERSEER
equivalents): REHER) :
Trade receivables JfE U BR 3% 31,744 38,738
Deposits and other receivables e & HAth e WA 13,802 12,811
Loans receivable JE W E 12,142 18,188
Refundable secured deposit MRECEAZ S 12,000 12,000
Bank and cash balances R1T M IR & M 19,005 2,951
88,693 84,688
Financial liabilities SREHE
Financial liabilities at amortised R # $55k N 5t £ 2
cost: TRBIE:
Trade and other payables JE 51 BR R e At B A
IE 32,987 31,723
Borrowings f& & 71,787 27,500
Bank overdrafts RITEX — 3,679
104,774 62,902
Fair values (9) 2n{E
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets f\f EMBRARATIAERE S

and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

TERREREEERAR
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+tHILFE

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(h) Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost capital.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may issue or buy-back shares,
issue new debts, recover debts or sell assets to
maintain sufficiency of working capital.

The Group’s total capital is the shareholders’ equity
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group is not subject to external
mandatory capital requirements and uses the liquidity
ratio (i.e. proportion of current assets to current
liabilities) to monitor the capital.

The liquidity ratio of the Group is as follows:

5.

ERMEREERER(R)

(h)

E2EmER

AEEERETHEERER
AEBRFBRLEZT  BK
%&E@%ﬁ%ﬁf@ﬁ&ﬂ
VHFREELERE R
9W$§i BB EFE N

E\

BoAKEONEEBRBEEST
B o

AEBERZERRE S E R
ERGERYEELBE - A
MERABREARGEE A5E
FIREB T B E D - BATH
B WEEHILEEE
MERENEEES -

AEBERBERREE VBN
ﬂ%ﬂ%%h%ﬁ*°$gl
A E TN o8 Il & R TE
Ifﬁﬁﬁm@]ﬁéth (BRE&E
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S
& °

AEBWRDESLLERDT :

2021 2020
—T-—f§ —_T_TF
Liquidity ratio MENE Bt X 1.04 1.65
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE=ZZT-_—FA=+HIFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the

event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June

AREE

NRBEZERER/TH2EENTER
HETZEFR ST HEEEMKEL
KERREANZER - A TAR
EfERBERZOAERBR  #1Hh
ERMABBARED R =EF
NEtEAAE

F—%  ASERGEEHTR

BARE: SRERAERAERE
B 75 45 9 B CF & 8
#) -

FE_® EESRBANERKE
BABE: BRBEEZ2BABEF
— BB ZRERI -

E=® BEXABZTAHE
WAL BARE-

REEZBRAERABER FHESNK
MEBEHZER 2 BHIEZE=(E
EMZEMBAREL -

(@ RN-TE-_—FXNA=+BzZAR

2021: RNEERKE
Fair value measurements using:
FERAUTHEABBZARENE:
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
g E— £ E=8 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT THER THER
Recurring fair value REMEDNRE
measurements: FHE
Biological assets EYEE - 264,209 - 264,209
Investments at fair value BARERA
through profit or loss Bmz®AE
— Equity securities listed —REBEELTZ
in Hong Kong IR 3 % 1,129 - - 1,129
— Keyman insurance contract — T B A ERE®
=X — — 17,203 17,203
Investment properties BAREME
in Hong Kong — 191,900 — 191,900
Investment properties HE AR E M E
in Mainland China — 75,634 — 75,634
Total recurring fair value  EHEMARE
measurements sTEEH 1,129 531,743 17,203 550,075
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHZE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. ARENEE)
(@) (Continued) (a) (#&)
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June RZEZFTFEA=+HZA
2020: REBRRKRE
Fair value measurements using:
FERAATHARBE 2R BEHE:
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
i E— E_H FE= #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT FAT FET
Recurring fair value BEMDILE
measurements: TE:
Biological assets EYEE — 248,759 — 248,759
Investments at fair value BAnBEs AERE
through profit or loss ZIRE
— Equity securities listed —REBELTZ
in Hong Kong PR 3 2 1,696 — — 1,696
Investment properties BAREME
in Hong Kong = 190,000 = 190,000
Investment properties B A 3% B W
in Mainland China — 69,002 — 69,002
Total recurring fair value  EEMHARE
measurements AEEH 1,696 507,761 — 509,457
(b)  Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on (by WEFE=ZFLELAALEBETFENE
level 3: EHER
2021 2020
—B-—% —EZTF
Description HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt FHET FAT
Investments at fair value through IZAARBEFAEZZ
profit or loss ®E
— Keyman insurance contract — FTEAERR
=X
At 1 July RntH—H — =
Purchases BE 21,369 —
Total fair value losses recognised ~ RIEZmER Z AR E
in profit or loss® EERE® (4,166) —
At 30 June RANA=+H 17,203 =
# Include gains or losses for assets ® G 3E N HEHAKRTH
held at end of reporting ZEEWENEE
period (4,166) S
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair
value measurements. The management reports directly
to the board of directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the management and the
board of directors at least twice a year.

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of the Group’s biological assets and
investment properties carried at fair value are
determined.

Level 2 fair value measurements

6.

AR {EEE)

(©)

AEEMAREBERERA
AEFEMRAGHERMNEREA
g

AEBEEREAEETHIER
iﬁﬁ%ﬁmZéE&ﬁ%’&ﬁ%
D-‘»E’E?ﬁ% Z\\/LL\{ED+
= MEEFETKﬁ%%é\iﬁ &
Ei%@\uﬁﬁ'i°”qf§f§§ﬁ§
EeFELIMEEBRRER
HERMIR

mE§t°

].

TREINAHEAEERAAE
JIREMEERKREMEN R
REWFEE -

BoRAREFE

Fair value Fair value
ARE DRI
2021 2020
—T--§ C_ZT_ZTF
Description Valuation technique  Key input HK$'000 HK$'000
i i {ER# ETEHABR TER TET
Biological assets ~ Market approach Market price of poplar trees per 264,209 248,759
cubic meter
EMEE Rz B8 8 A RTE
Investment Direct comparison Market price of car parking space 191,900 190,000
properties in approach
Hong Kong
BEREME BEELBE EHEATE
Investment Market approach and  Land: market price per square 75,634 69,002
properties in replacement cost meter;
Mainland approach Buildings: replacement cost per
China square meter
RERWIRE  TBAREE i BEHKTE
S AR BF BTAKEERAR

TERRFEEREBEBERA

—BC—FEF®H
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. ARENEE)
() (Continued) (0 (#&)
Level 3 fair value measurements FERARERE
The fair value of the keyman insurance contract RAEE— %IEMEJ\E\&
purchased for a key management personnel of the ROEZTEAEBRBREDNZBR
Group is determined based on the cash surrender BEERRETEABRBRELHM
value in accordance with the keyman insurance HZzBRRRESBEETE - LI
contract which is not an observable input. ARG AR BEERE
Management estimates the fair value based on the RiEAARENFEABRR
latest policy statement of the keyman insurance BRZEMREREM .;JF’D\/LE
contract provided by the insurance company. ﬁ °
The unobservable input is the cash surrender value A BRG ASBBERRRE QA
quoted by the insurance company according to the *ETEIE)\E(%F@%%’WE%E’U
keyman insurance contract. When the cash surrender BRIRB & E - ?Eﬁ'dﬁﬁﬁf
value is higher, the fair value of the keyman insurance mCEZEA ,5\1% ez R
contract will be higher. BEfEgEm -
During the two years, there were no changes in the REZMEA - A2 b ER
valuation techniques used. ﬂiﬂﬁx o
7. REVENUE 7. Wz
2021 2020
—¥-—f —FE_FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FAT
Trading of recycled metals BERKE B 13,117 12,862
Trading of motor vehicles and related B & /5% & 18 B B 1+
accessories 58,495 55,737
Sales of golden flower tea products HESEREm — 144
Revenue from contracts with customers &= F & #) 2 W28 71,612 68,743
Rental income B2 KA 4,036 3,696
Loan interest income R 2 A 2,230 2,939
Dividend income g B WA — 28
Total revenue 2= 77,878 75,406

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE=ZZT-_—FA=+HIFE

7. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 7. Wra(48)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for BHE-_ZE-_ -~ A=THLEE"
year ended 30 June 2021: BEREAHNRZZ DN
Trading of
motor Sales of
Trading of vehicles and golden
recycled related flower tea
metals  accessories products
BEERER HE
BEEOWEE HE K & EEXER
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTET FTERT FTERT
Geographical markets i [ v 15
Mainland China o A — 6,015 —
Hong Kong BE 13,117 51,773 —
Macau R P — 707 —
13,117 58,495 —
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for HE_Z-_ZFA=THIEEE "
year ended 30 June 2020: BEPEHMz=E DI
Trading of
motor Sales of
Trading of  vehicles and golden
recycled related flower tea
metals accessories products
BEERER HE
EERkeE BB 1 SRR Em
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
Geographical markets Hh [E T 15
Mainland China R A — 1,769 144
Hong Kong B 12,862 53,151 —
Macau R P = 817 —
12,862 55,737 144

All revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at

a point in time.

%R -

TERREREEERAR
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Sales of goods

The Group sells recycled metals, motor vehicles and related
accessories to the customers. Sales are recognised when
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products and the customer has obtained legal titles to the
products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of
30 to 90 days. For new customers, payment in advance or
cash on delivery is normally required. Deposits received are
recognised as contract liabilities.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
to the customers as this is the point in time that the

consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has seven reportable segments as follows:

(i)  Trading of recycled metals

(i) Trading of motor vehicles and related accessories

(iii)  Property investment

(iv)  Provision of financial services

(v)  Sales of golden flower tea products

(vi)  Securities trading and investment

(vii) Sales of plantation materials and products

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different
technology and marketing strategies.

Segment profits or losses do not include finance costs and
income tax credit. Segment assets do not include goodwill
and refundable secured deposit. Segment liabilities do not

include deferred tax liabilities, borrowings and bank
overdrafts.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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HEER

AEERFEFPHECNNESE  THER
MR - HERNERNZEHEE S
BR(AERINTER)  BEAE
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FREBEMMAEMERRER -

AE P EH R E — RIL30EI0KRH
FE%%H & P B A LR A 3R
EAEIN NP %WWE%%%H%@
BfE-
EWHIAREmRX N T &P &R -
A % B ) 6 AU B 3 SR B R (2 7R B
A 38 25 1 A 7 £ 15 A -

5 &8 & #
AEEA T LET2HSH

i) EERKREE
(i BEAERMEBEEH

(vi) BHEBEREKE
(vi) HEREMHREM®

AREBEZAZ2H D MAERE TR EM®
KR o RESMERBEM - AN E X
%5 B AR By & 5 B R i
DHEEEAE2HDE -

D ERE N BB B IR E KA KA
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FRA=THLFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. SHEREH (&)
Information about reportable segment revenue, profit or B EHo Bl Bm BER
loss, assets and liabilities: BEMNERNAT :
Trading of Sales of
motor Sales of plantation
Trading of  vehicles Provision of golden  Securities  materials
recycled and related  Property  financial flower tea trading and and
metals accessories investment  services  products investment  products Others Total
EBOK BEHESER RESH HESHEX SBHER  HEEE
&8 HHE# HERE PR Em LEE HHRER it h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL T THL TEL T THL TEL T THL
Year ended 30 June 2021 BE-B--f£
~NAZ+BLEE
Revenue from external customers RENREF HNE 13,117 58,495 4,036 2,230 - - - - 771,878
Segment (loss)/profit comprising: AH(ER)/EHRE: (2,231) 410 4,228 (2,613) (4,099) (585)  (13,281)  (14,027)  (32,198)
Loss arising from changes in fair EWEEDARER
value less costs to sell of L ERAEE
biological assets ZER - - - - - - (8,245) - (8,245)
Fair value gain on investment REMZFZARE
properties 6= - - 1,900 - - - 1,900
Depreciation and amortisation REREH (3,161) (633) (174) - (206) - (4,969) (3573)  (12,716)
Net loss on fair value changes on SRR A B ABRZ
investments at fair value REZALEESZ
through profit or loss BEEFE - (4,166) - - - (567) - - (4.733)
Provision for impairment loss of EVEERERR
intangible assets B - - - - (3,800) - - - (3,800)
Provision for impairment loss of FEHEERRRE
inventories - (404) — - - — - - (404)
Provision for impairment loss of YRR ERE
receivables B - - - (4,152 - - - - (4,152)
Provision for impairment loss of RAREEREER
right-of-use assets B - - - - - - - (9,549) (9,549)
At 30 June 2021 R=F=-FxA=t8H
Segment assets PPEE 7,834 108,171 268,297 14,326 2,755 1,183 352,842 23,973 779,381
Segment liabilities PHEE 3,626 18,340 7,040 1,759 170 467 1,992 33,292 66,686
Year ended 30 June 2020 E-FCEE
~NAZ+BLEE
Revenue from external customers KA SN EF Bz 12,862 55,737 3,696 2,939 144 28 = = 75,406
Segment (loss)/profit comprising: AH(ER)/EFRE: (10,526) 2,723 (14,882) 2,893 (383) (2,895) (9,565) (4,425)  (37,060)
Loss arising from changes in fair i%éﬁﬂﬁﬁ?iﬂ
value less costs to sell of LSRN ARESE
biological assets ZER = = = = = = (4.814) — (4,814)
Fair value loss on investment REMFZARE
properties 5| - - (15322) = = = = - (1532
Depreciation and amortisation REREH (1,908) (953) (2,078) - (206) - (4,693) 2917) (12,755
Proceeds from disposal of listed HELMEFAST
securities HE = = = = — 273 — — 273
Costs of disposal of listed securities it %J:?ﬁ?f%ﬁ']ﬁmi = = = = = (670) - — (670)
Net unrealised losses on listed
securities i} — - — — - (2,517) — = (2,517)
Provision for impairment loss of ﬁ%%lﬁ/ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%
receivables EH (6337) = = = = = = = (6337)
At 30 June 2020 RZF-¥ERA=+H
Segment assets PHEE 5,069 78,531 260,311 18,208 6,750 1,750 333,694 36,242 740,555
Segment liabilities PHEE 438 13,077 4,225 623 135 467 4,816 33,389 57,170
FRIREEREEERAR Z—T-—F5#H 105
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. HEBEH(4E)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, 2o BME=E - B BEREBE
assets and liabilities: RSBRLIOT -
2021 2020
- el 3 —ZE=Z
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#&T FAET
Revenue: W 2% :
Total revenue of reportable segments B R F A 77,878 75,406
Loss: E518 :
Total loss of reportable segments AE2WmMn L BEE (32,198) (37,060)
Other profit or loss: HfhE %= -
Finance costs B & B A (2,469) (2,144)
Income tax credit FTig i % 1,114 1,008
Corporate and unallocated items tENADEER (15,389) (17,578)
Consolidated loss for the year FEZFEER (48,942) (55,774)
Assets: BE:
Total assets of reportable segments 2| EBREE 779,381 740,555
Goodwiill EES 1,087 1,087
Refundable secured deposit AREDEIFE S 12,000 12,000
Corporate and unallocated assets CERRDEEE 7,182 8,756
Consolidated total assets REBEE 799,650 762,398
Liabilities: BfE:
Total liabilities of reportable segments ] 2 5H PRAEE 66,686 57,170
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEE FE 88,060 83,420
Borrowings and bank overdrafts BRNIEITEX 71,787 31,179
Corporate and unallocated liabilities TrERADEAE 13,416 12,897
Consolidated total liabilities mematE 239,949 184,666

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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8.

HE-_T_—FA=+HLEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8.

Geographical information:

SEES (&)

SR AR

Revenue Non-current assets
" 25 EREBEE

2021 2020 2021 2020
—¥-—-§ _—T_TF ¥ _IT_ZTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FAT TER FAT
Mainland China elCTNANp: 6,015 1,913 430,333 408,560
Hong Kong B 71,156 72,676 218,323 199,666
Macau R P 707 817 — —
Nepal IEREL ] — = 20,726 33,054
77,878 75,406 669,382 641,280

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based
on the locations of the customers.

K2R ERE KRS DHREBEREP
M E -

Revenue from major customers: REFEEFPHIKE :
2021 2020
—®T-—f —E_TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trading of motor vehicles and EEREREME 4
related accessories
Customer A Z2EA 41,433 36,341

Revenue from the above customer individually contributed
more than 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

KA EMEFHWEERIEAEE R
W ZE10% A | o

TERREREEERAR
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10.

11.

108

HE-_T_—FA=+HLEE

OTHER INCOME 9. Hfhlk A
2021 2020
—F-—%F S
HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#&T FHET
Sponsor income Z A 1,049 393
Government subsidy B 6 B 1,233 260
Others HAtb 457 311
2,739 964
FINANCE COSTS 10. MAEmE
2021 2020
—F-—f —T_EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#&T FE T
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts $RITE R LB X A 1,175 1,151
Interest on other loan HERFE 160 —
Lease interests HEFE 1,134 993
2,469 2,144
INCOME TAX CREDIT 11. iRHIER
2021 2020
—¥-—f —T_EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ~ ENEAFR1E — FHEFEH
Provision for the year FERE 1,371 1,401
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BREFERBEBETNRS
(FBFEEHE) 791 (40)
2,162 1,361
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income  BDEAFiIE — B %
Tax Fr i ®t 17 —
Deferred tax (note 30) EERLIA (K7 7430) (3.293) (2,369)
Income tax credit FEHRE R (1,114) (1,008)

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity established in
Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above that
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits
of the group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit
Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of

16.5%.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED) 11.

Profits of the group entities established in Mainland China
will be taxed at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25%

(2020: 25%).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in

which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,

e ——

FRA=THLFE

interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

Reconciliation between income tax credit and the product of
loss before tax multiplied by the PRC Enterprise Income Tax

rate is as follows:

ey

AEE
BHEBRTE

FiaHE% (&)

FE R B P A ST Y 55 1B R B A i N S
BARBEMEAEHREE25%
TF :25%) B e

— = —

=

Hipilm 2 ARG MR 2%
PIEBRZRITRE - 1R
BELRERGE

1S58 % SRR B A B R SR A P B
%Ffr MEABNBEIHERNT

2021 2020
—F-—F —E-THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FAT
Loss before tax & %% A B 48 (50,056) (56,782)
Tax calculated at applicable tax rate of %@ F % &£25%
25% (2020: 25%) —E T HF :25%)
EZHRE (12,514) (14,196)
Effect of different tax rates of the BB ARMER—2
subsidiaries A 1,796 3,074
Tax effect of expenses that are not AT IR B S 2 B
deductible - 4,734 7,060
Tax effect of income that are not BARBWMA Z BB
taxable - (518) (17)
Tax effect of temporary differences not 7 & 52 & b = 58 2 % 75
recognised A 726 1,106
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not 2 Fl 5¢ Bl ok #8 52 %1 75
previously recognised BEZTBEE (8) (12)
Tax reduction T 7% H0O0R (293) (165)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFEBEETR/
(B m) 791 (40)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RFER T IBEIE 2 #7%
T & 4,172 2,182
Income tax credit s R (1,114) (1,008)
FEBRELEREEARAR —"ETE-—FEFR 109
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12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12

The Group's loss for the year is stated at after charging the

FEEE
AR B R IE R T 5 S 8%

following: HR
2021 2020
—T-—f —_T_EF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Amortisation of intangible assets EEE#HE 5,133 4,866
Auditor’s remuneration % SN B & 1,000 980
Depreciation e 9,308 9,976
Loss on disposals of property, plant and H& %% HE K& E
equipment 2 BB 81 794
Direct operating expenses of EEHEeWANIZEY
investment properties that generate XCEREERY
rental income 310 348
Direct operating expenses of mMELEHSWBANEE
investment properties that did not MELEELERX
generate rental income 510 488
Expenses related to short-term leases HBAEEHHEE 2R 1,604 3,052
Staff costs (including directors’ B T A (B 15 E = i
remuneration): &)
— salaries, bonuses and allowances — ¥ JEAL KRR 13,249 15,014
— retirement benefit scheme — RIREA &%
contributions 347 404
13,596 15,418

During the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020, the Group
had no forfeited contribution under defined contribution
retirement schemes utilised to reduce the existing levels of
contributions. As at 30 June 2021 and 2020, there was no
forfeited contribution under defined contribution retirement
schemes which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years.

110 China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2021 Annual Report
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 13. EERTHEARNS
EMOLUMENTS
(@) The emoluments of each director are as (a) BEREEMLIIEHNT :
follows:
2021
—E--F
Retirement
Salaries and Discretionary  benefit scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
BHEH
e HeREH BB RN o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TER TERT FTET TER
Chief executive officer and ~ THERKRTES
executive director
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEELE 1,536 - - 18 1,554
Executive directors ATES
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RESRE 360 - - 13 373
Mr. Wong Po Keung ERBELE 300 660 - 18 978
Mr. Chung Siu Wah EOBELE 1,056 - - 18 1,074
Mr. Chik To Pan BB EE 480 — — 18 498
Independent non-executive ~ BIAFHTEE
directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEEELE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Ong Chi King Frisis 120 — — — 120
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric EEEAL 120 — — — 120
Total @zt 4,092 660 — 85 4,837
2020
e 33
Retirement
Salaries and Discretionary  benefit scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
BHREHN
we HekEd BiETEL SHEIfE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET FTHET FTET FTET
Chief executive officer and ~ THEREKHTES
executive director
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEELEE 1,536 = 128 18 1,682
Executive directors ATES
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RELRE 360 = 30 18 408
Mr. Wong Po Keung BRBEL 300 660 80 18 1,058
Mr. Chung Siu Wah EOERE 1,056 = 88 18 1,162
Mr. Chik To Pan RER k& 480 — 40 18 538
Independent non-executive ~ BIAFHRTEE
directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEEELL 120 = 10 = 130
Mr. Ong Chi King FrEis 120 = 10 = 130
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric EEEAE 120 = 10 = 130
Total @t 4,092 660 396 90 5,238
FRIREEREEERAR Z—T-—F5#H 111
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

112

(a)

(b)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

The emoluments of each director are as
follows: (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director and
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the years ended 30 June 2021 and
2020.

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included three (2020: three) directors whose

13. EERTTHAREZMNE (8)

() BEEEMLIEWOT :
&)
BE-T--—FSR-"T-T%F
NA= +E|JJ:¢J_‘_ é%&ff
AR EET I RELRAE R
EEAME R -

(b) AEEEHFAL
EXN AERALESHEAL
BE=ZZ(E-_T&:=%)

emoluments are set out in note (a) above. The EE EMESFI N EXHEF
emoluments of the remaining two (2020: two) (@ HRTMEBE(ZE_ZTF : M
individuals are set out below: FIOALTZMEHEHWOT :
2021 2020
—EZ—% —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#&T FET
Basic salaries, allowances and EAFHE 2K
benefits-in-kind EMA = 2,000 2,000
Retirement benefit scheme RIKEFET 8 3
contributions 18 18
2,018 2,018
The emoluments fell within the following bands: BN T & E
2021 2020
—_Eg-—%F —E_FTF
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 %1,000,0007 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t &
1,500,0007% 7T 1 1
2 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

2021 Annual Report
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14. LOSS PER SHARE

15.

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$46,102,000 (2020: HK$55,558,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 2,036,538,114 (2020:
2,036,538,114) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive
for the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of
any dividend in respect of the years ended 30 June 2021
and 2020.

TERREREEERAR

14.

15.
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BIREFEIR
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE-ZT——

FRA=ZTHLFE

16. ¥M%  BE K%

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements  equipment Cruiser vehicles Total
KA KBER
HERE R piif AE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THET TET TAT THET
Cost 7%
At 1 July 2019 RZE-NFEtA—H 5,406 8,773 3,000 4,901 22,080
Additions NE 3,874 2,948 — — 6,822
Disposals & (2,573) (1,299) — (140) (4,012)
Exchange differences ERES (176) (132) — — (308)
At 30 June 2020 and RZZ-_ZF A=TH
1 July 2020 RZFEZFT4tA—H 6,531 10,290 3,000 4,761 24,582
Additions NE 419 438 — — 857
Disposals & (471) (13) (3,000) - (3,484)
Exchange differences X EH 65 49 = = 114
At 30 June 2021 RZZEZ—F RA=+1H 6,544 10,764 — 4,761 22,069
Accumulated depreciation B3 E
At 1 July 2019 RZZ-NE+A—A 3,126 5,119 3,000 945 12,190
Charge for the year RE R 1,139 1,383 — 2,310 4,832
Disposals & (1,903) (643) — 81) (2,627)
Exchange differences X EH — (16) — - (16)
At 30 June 2020 and R-E_ZEXA=TH
1 July 2020 FZEZTELH—H 2,362 5,843 3,000 3,174 14,379
Charge for the year RE R 433 1,579 = 1,320 3,332
Disposals & (380) (5) (3,000) = (3,385)
Exchange differences X EH — 3 = = 3
At 30 June 2021 RZZ-_—F A=+H 2,415 7,420 = 4,494 14,329
Carrying amount fREE
At 30 June 2021 RZZE-—-%~A=Z+H 4,129 3,344 — 267 7,740
At 30 June 2020 RZZ_ZFX A=1H 4,169 4,447 = 1,587 10,203
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
2021 2020
—B-—f§ —ZE_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
At 30 June: mRAA=+H:
Right-of-use assets CREEE
— Land and buildings — Tt REF 21,716 28,057
Lease commitments of short-term leases %2 HifH & » T & &4 325 714
The maturity analysis, based on RNEEZEARBRIE SR
undiscounted cash flows, of the EZMHEARIEH
Group's lease liabilities is as follows: DT
— Less than 1 year — DMF 11,980 5,067
— Between 1 and 2 years — | &=24F 5,322 3,090
— Between 2 and 5 years — 2&54F 10,925 10,216
— Over 5 years — HBiESEF 13,721 17,194
41,948 35,567
Year ended 30 June: BERA=+HLEEE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use EREEENERNX
assets
— Land and buildings — T REF 5,976 5,144
Lease interests HEME 1,134 993
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets £ FA £ & E R B & 18 9,549 —
Expenses related to short-term leases Eﬁiﬁ Hﬂ%ﬂfﬁﬁfﬁz%ﬁﬁ 1,604 3,052
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLRE (3.072) (4,207)
Additions to right-of-use assets /,J\Eﬁﬂ%%ﬁF 8,544 31,562
The Group leases various land use rights and land and ZIS%TE‘EREiiﬁJﬁﬁW%ELX&iﬂE
buildings. Lease agreements are typically made for fixed EiEF -HEHZE —RIFIZ19F 8
periods of 1 to 19 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an & 7E HARR Hl 5T o 7 ff@?ﬂ(ﬁ?%ﬁ”%
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms EEEETE  UBEESETNRERK
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any G- HE Tﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁu&ﬁ%@% - B
covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security MESETSRERROER -

for borrowing purposes.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of BRAEERE ARG E K5 S
its right of-use assets situated in Nepal as a result of the Ree BB ERHEKRET  WAEH
Group's planned hotel business in Nepal cannot be launched HHURNE BRERAEEE 2 AT
according to the originally scheduled timetable. These right- bl & FHETERN ZFEREEES
of-use assets are included in the segment of others. The AEMDE - AR ZEBHFLE A H
Group expects the future cash flow from the planned hotel |\ R AEBEEHRERE
business in Nepal will be reduced due to its business HRBE XA ENARERRE N
commencement date is inevitably postponed. The reviews led > o 5 8 25 B BN H ) BB R
to the recognition of an impairment loss of right-of-use 15 A # & B R (B E5 18 £79,549,000/%8
assets in the segment of others of approximately T WEREBEEBR RZT—_—F
HK$9,549,000 that has been recognised in profit or loss. The ANA=+TH BEEEZAKESE
recoverable amount of the relevant assets of approximately #921,716,000 7T Ty BRI IE 2
HK$21,716,000 as at 30 June 2021 has been determined on 2% %E@Eﬁﬁﬁ%@%fﬁ ° FfT A &Y
the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow BhIR % £16.08%

method. The discount rate used was 16.08%.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. EME
Car parking Industrial
spaces properties Total
fSE{iL T#EME st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT FET
Fair value ARE
At 1 July 2019 RZE-NELA—H 200,000 77,041 277,041
Change in fair value NTRER L) (10,000) (5,322) (15,322)
Exchange differences PE i =%H — (2,717) (2,717)
At 30 June 2020 and RZEZTF A=
1 July 2020 BR-—_ZE_ZTF+A
—H 190,000 69,002 259,002
Change in fair value NALEE 1,900 — 1,900
Exchange differences PE X =58 — 6,632 6,632
At 30 June 2021 RZZEZ—F A=+
H 191,900 75,634 267,534
The car parking spaces are situated in Hong Kong. As at FEMARED- T - —F
30 June 2021, the fair value of the car parking spaces is ANA=TH EFHA ﬁﬁ@i’w%
approximately HK$191,900,000 (2020: HK$190,000,000), 191,900,000% st (= - F F:
which was arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out 190,000,000/’% JT) E}Rﬁiﬁiﬁﬂ

by ARM Appraisals Limited, an independent professional
valuer. The fair value is based on the direct comparison
approach under fair value measurement level 2.

The industrial properties are situated in Mainland China. As
at 30 June 2021, the fair value of the industrial properties is
approximately HK$75,634,000 (equivalent to
RMB62,900,000) (2020: HK$69,002,000 (equivalent to
RMB62,900,000)), which was arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out by ARM Appraisals Limited, an
independent professional valuer. The fair value is based on
the market approach for land and replacement cost
approach for buildings and structures under fair value
measurement level 2.

The Group leases out certain of its investment properties
under operating leases. The average lease term is 2 years. All
leases are on a fixed rental basis and include variable lease
payments.

As at 30 June 2021 and 2020, the car parking spaces with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$191,900,000 and HK$190,000,000 respectively were
pledged to a bank to secure banking facilities available to
the Group. A deed of assignment of rental income from the
car parking spaces was executed in the favour of the bank.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE

19.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 19. EYEE
Standing
timbers
RIFEHAAK
HK$'000
FET
At 1 July 2019 R-ZZTE—NLFEtA—H 262,989
Change in fair value less costs to sell DR EZERH L E KA (4,814)
Exchange differences fE N =% (9,416)
At 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020 RZZE_ZEEFXRA=+HBR
—ZE_TF+H—H 248,759
Change in fair value less costs to sell DR EZEREEKA (8,245)
Exchange differences ME 5 =& 23,695
At 30 June 2021 R_ZE_—§X"A=+H 264,209

The Group’s biological assets represent standing timbers on
plantation land of approximately 30,000 Chinese Mu with a
lease term of 30 vyears, expiring in 2038. The standing
timbers comprise mostly poplar trees (accounting over 99%
of the total standing timbers), mixed with a very small
portion of other species of deciduous trees such as elm and
willow. During the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020, the
Group did not harvest or sell any standing timbers.

The Group's standing timbers as at 30 June 2021 were
independently valued by Roma Appraisals Limited (“Roma”)
which comprises a group of independent professional valuers
with experience and expertise in relation to biological assets
valuation. Their team consists of professional valuers and
agricultural experts who work together in a wide array of
biological assets to ensure the reliability and fairness of their

REE 2 Y E E RN #I30,0009
B EE T i E R - %
B BEBRI0F  RZT=N\F
B e RREMARETESBHH (5

2EARREMAERIO% ) - K5 D
BHEMMENRESA - flmms &
i - BE—_T-_—FR-_T_FTF
NAZTRALFE  AEEWERK
X 85 & A R R

REBR-_ZB-—FRA=THRK
KMANEEAZEFTEERFEBRQ
AI(TESER])BUFE Ehm—4
EREMEEMELRIEXANHH
BYHERMGEEMARK - BERBEERE
HMEMERXER  RERZELEY
BEETAF BRHEBGERAER

valuation results. Accordingly, the directors are of the view AV Bt EERREFTERES
that Roma is independent and competent to determine the IR BBENEEAEBENEERN
fair value of the Group’s biological assets. N -
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BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Roma has adopted a market approach for the valuation of
standing timbers. The method uses the present market value
in terms of price per unit cubic meter of round logs and the
total merchantable volume of timbers on the plantation land
as at 30 June 2021 as a basis for calculating the fair value
less costs to sell of the biological assets. Roma has adopted
the measured merchantable volume of standing timbers as
indicated by the forest manager of the Group and also
verified the market price per cubic meter of logs by
referencing to the market price lists, after taking into
account of local timber manufacturing factories as well. The
principal assumptions adopted are as follows:

1. no material changes in the existing political, legal,
technological, fiscal, economic conditions, climate and
any other natural condition; and

2. the movements of the price of the timber, the setup
fee and maintenance fee for tree plantation will move
in line with the price index of forestry product in
Mainland China.

The valuation technigues used in the determination of fair
values as well as the key inputs used in the valuation
models are disclosed in note 6.

Nature risk

The Group's revenue depends significantly on the ability to
harvest wood at adequate levels. The ability to harvest on
the plantation land and the growth of the trees on the
plantation land may be affected by unfavorable local
weather conditions and natural disasters. Severe weather
conditions and natural disasters such as earthquakes, rainfall,
underground water, fire, disease, insect infestation and pests
are examples of such events. The occurrence of severe
weather conditions or natural disasters may diminish the
supply of trees available for harvesting on the plantation
land, or otherwise impede the Group's logging operations or
the growth of the trees on the plantation land, which in
turn may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
ability to produce the products in sufficient quantities and a
timely manner.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE
20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BILEE
Exclusive
Operating distribution
rights rights Total
HER BROHEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FAET
Cost RA&
At 1 July 2019 RZZE—NFLA—H 143,502 24,115 167,617
Exchange differences E & =% (5,166) — (5,166)
At 30 June 2020 and RZZE_ZEFRA=T
1 July 2020 BR—_Z_ZTF+A
—H 138,336 24,115 162,451
Exchange differences PE i =58 13,295 — 13,295
At 30 June 2021 RZEBEZ—FXA=+
H 151,631 24,115 175,746
Accumulated amortisation Rt REEREE
and impairment losses
At 1 July 2019 RZE—-—NFELtHA—H 50,625 18,040 68,665
Amortisation for the year F 4,660 206 4,866
Exchange differences &N =% (1,872) = (1,872)
At 30 June 2020 and RZTE_ZEFRXA=+
1 July 2020 AR=ZZFE=_FF+H
—H 53,413 18,246 71,659
Amortisation for the year F 4,927 206 5,133
Impairment loss recognised for 4 A E # 25 B &5 18
the year — 3,800 3,800
Exchange differences M 5, Z & 5,261 = 5,261
At 30 June 2021 R-ZZEZ—4F
~NA=+H 63,601 22,252 85,853
Carrying amount iR H &
At 30 June 2021 RZZEBE_—F
NA=+H 88,030 1,863 89,893
At 30 June 2020 R-ZZB_TF
~NAZ=1+H 84,923 5,869 90,792

The operating rights relate to the favorable aspect of the
right to use and operate the plantation land of a subsidiary
of the Company. The subsidiary was acquired in the year
ended 30 June 2009. The intangible assets are amortised
using straight-line method over the useful life of 30 years
and the remaining useful life is 17 (2020: 18) years.

BB IR

SEREBABRAF

184F) »

—BC—FEF®H

MERERNNFNBARERRLE
BEIHENNEFNANRIEHR A4

ARBE_ZTETEANFAAA=Z+THIEF
VH&ZE%E%MT% Al-MELEEMFAER
AR A BI30F Ry T] F A F BR i
oM NAIEREHARIIF(ZE
—EF
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BE-ZE-—FRA=+tHILFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 20. EELEE (&)
The exclusive distribution rights relate to the exclusive rights BROEEENFHAMDHERIEE
to distribute and sell products associated with the golden PEREBHEERNBERENSE
flower tea business in Mainland China for a period of 30.6 B RH306F - BROFEENER
years. The exclusive distribution rights are amortised on a P&HZTEFHEHJ%O 6@&%7?5]{%%
straight-line basis over the useful life of 30.6 years and the FHR275F (T T F:285F) &
remaining useful life is 27.5 (2020: 28.5) years. The Group i o EEEA$EIE'J§ nm Sl - B
carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its EZTE—FRA=ZTHLEFEE K
exclusive rights during the year ended 30 June 2021 as a Elﬂﬁi\ﬂﬁ%%ﬂm—ﬂﬁl@ IR
result of the deterioration of the markets of the Group’s TEZ ZEEEDRARASEHEE
products. These assets are used in the Group's segment of SHEREmOH - BE_T_— ﬁ/\
sales of golden flower tea products. The review led to a )EJ THIEFE ERERNERE
provision for impairment loss of approximately SRR B B 18 B 15 493,800,000/ 7T © A]
HK$3,800,000 recognised in profit or loss during the year Hﬂz@@%ﬁé’m,%a,oooiﬁﬁ(:%:%
ended 30 June 2021. The recoverable amount of % 5,869,000/ ) N ARLERE S
approximately HK$1,863,000 (2020: HK$5,869,000) has been REBLERFERAEBEEE (BE=R2R
determined on the basis of the value in use by using Bt 2) c FTARIRZER13.5% °
discounted cash flow method (level 3 fair value
measurements). The discount rate used was 13.5%.
GOODWILL 21. B8
HK$'000
FAET
Cost [N
At beginning and end of reporting period WE BT RER 1,087

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the CGU that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill
had been allocated to the CGU of trading of motor vehicles.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
Impairment testing of goodwill
Trading of motor vehicles CGU

Goodwill is tested for impairment for this CGU by the
management by estimating the recoverable amount of the
CGU based on value-in-use calculation.

As at 30 June 2021, the value-in-use calculation uses cash
flow projections based on the financial budgets approved by
the management covering a 5-year period. Key assumptions
used by the management in the value-in-use calculation of
the CGU include budgeted revenue and gross profit margin.
The pre-tax discount rate used for estimating the value in
use is 13.5%.

The assumptions have been determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations in respect of
the motor vehicles trading in Hong Kong and Mainland
China.

The management is not currently aware of any other
probable changes that would necessitate changes in its key
estimates. No impairment loss has been recognised for the
year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil).

TERREREEERAA
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HE-_T_—FA=+HLEE

INVENTORIES 22. 58
2021 2020
—E¥T—%F —E-FHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Ti#&T FHET
Goods for resale HEER 25,264 22,804
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FEUCRRFR B H fth FE U FX 1B
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#&T THET
Trade receivables & U BR X 39,806 46,800
Less: provision for impairment loss of 38 : Ji& W& BF 2R (E &5 18
trade receivables B (8,062) (8,062)
31,744 38,738
Prepayments, deposits and other TENHRIE e RHEAM
receivables JFE U 38 29,984 29,121
Less: provision for impairment loss of & : B I8 B & &k
prepayments, deposits and other H & YR IE
receivables HEBERE (1,000) (1,000)
28,984 28,121
Total BET 60,728 66,859

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally range from 30 to 90
(2020: 30 to 90) days. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. For new customers, payment in advance or cash on
delivery is normally required. The Group seeks to maintain

strict control over its outstanding

receivables.

Overdue

balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE=ZZT-_—FA=+HIFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

23

FEE Mg B 5k % L i FE W 7R I (48)

YRR IR EZRA B Z R DT (2
HEREFH DT

2021 2020
—EB-—F —_T_EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
0-90 days 0Z90X 17,262 14,609
91-180 days 91E180K 11,229 9,463
181-360 days 181ZE360K 1,835 14,144
Over 360 days it #8360k 1,418 522
31,744 38,738

The movement in provision for impairment of trade FEWERFURBEREESH T

receivables is as follows:

2021 2020
—¥-—f§ —T_EF
HK$°000 HK$ 000
TFHET FAT
Balance at beginning of year F AR 8,062 2,725
Impairment loss recognised ERERBEBE — 5,337
Balance at end of year FRESR 8,062 8,062

Impaired trade receivables were mainly due from customers
with long outstanding balances and the management of the
Group considered the recoverability is remote as the related
customers were in financial difficulties or have prolonged
delay in repayment. The Group did not hold any material
collateral over those balances.

The movement in provision for impairment of prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is as follows:

ERERKEREIESERETPNE
HIAREESES MAKBEEERR
HEo Wil - REZERZTFER
B IR 2 s R BB AT JE SR o AR B
BERZEEBTEENERNERS -

T FROE 4 B B
BESHNOT

2021 2020

—T-—f§ —T_EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Balance at beginning of year F AR 1,000 —

Impairment loss recognised ERRREEE — 1,000

Balance at end of year F R 1,000 1,000
TEBREEREEERAR —T--—F€% 123
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FEM AR R H fih FE W SR IE (48)
(CONTINUED)
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to AEBEREAE BV REERESNR
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected BTWEERE - FIRAMERKERR
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the WEEBEBERRE  TIREHREE
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped B8 - Brir=2TEBEEEBE  BUE
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past HRERBEEEEERRBRFH RS X
due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward HETHE B EEBEINERER
looking information. e R o
1-90 91-180 181-360  Over 360
days days days days
Current  past due past due past due past due Total
CEf =3 CEf =3
BE  1E90X 91F180% 181E360K #Bil360K @t
At 30 June 2021 R-F=-%
~A=+H
Weighted average MELHEHERX
expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 90%
Receivable amount EheBE(THET)

(HK$'000) 17,262 11,128 668 1,816 8,932 39,806
Loss allowance (HK$'000) E#EEE (THET) - — - — (8,062) (8,062)
At 30 June 2020 R-B-F%

~A=+H
Weighted average MEFHEHERE

expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 94%
Receivable amount EkeBE(THET)

(HK$'000) 13,918 10,153 13,980 165 8,584 46,300
Loss allowance (HK$'000) E5#E#EE (L) — — — — (8,062) (8,062)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers who have no recent
history of default and have kept good track records with the
Group. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. Based on past experience, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect
of these balances as there are no significant change in their
respective credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable.
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9%—-20%) per annum. The loan period is generally 3 to 12

(2020:

1 to 39) months. Loans receivable of approximately

HK$1,000,000 (2020: HK$1,000,000) are secured by watches
(2020: Watches). The directors of the Company monitored
the collectibility of the loans receivable closely with reference
to their respective current creditworthiness and repayment

records.

The ageing analysis of these loans and interests receivable,
based on loan commencement or renewal date set out in

For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE
24. LOANS RECEIVABLE 24. FEERR
2021 2020
—F-—%F .
HK$’000 HK$'000
Ti#&T FABT
Loans receivable & W E 16,294 18,188
Less: provision for impairment loss of 38 : & W & R E & 1B
loans receivable B (4,152) —
12,142 18,188
Loans receivable, secured JEWE K - BEHE 1,000 1,000
Loans receivable, unsecured JE W E T AR 8,837 14,888
Loan interests receivable, secured JEWE A E - BEIE 1 1
Loan interests receivable, unsecured EWE A B - EIE 2,304 2,299
12,142 18,188
Analysed as: PR i =
Current assets mENE E 12,142 14,808
Non-current assets IERBEE — 3,380
12,142 18,188
The loans granted are interest bearing at 2%-30% (2020: B2 EFRENE2%E30% (ZF

—TF 9% FE20% )T A - ERHEIR

— R A3IEI2(ZEZ

fF:1£39)#

B o UL E X 491,000,000/ 7T (= &

Z 4 : 1,000,000/ 7T) A F & (=
?_gi FE)ERKB - RQNAE
%ﬁ%ﬁmzﬁuaﬁuﬁﬁﬂr‘&@m;ﬂ

% BUERERES

X H A I a1

RIEEBE NI ERFANER
B HI Y 5% % B K I R ORI B R ik 0 AT

the relevant contracts, is as follows: m
2021 2020
—EFZ—% —EFTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET FET
91-180 days 91£ 180K — 306
181-360 days 1812360k 12,142 11,654
Over 360 days B iE360K — 6,228
12,142 18,188

FRIRBEERSEERAR ZZTBZ—FFWH 125



For the year ended 30 June 2021

24,

126

BE-ZE-—FRA=+tHILFE

LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)

The movement in provision for impairment of loans
receivable is as follows:

. Bl ER (&)

EWEFREREES T

2021 2020

—B-—F —E_TF

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FHERT FHET

Balance at beginning of year F AL R — —
Impairment loss recognised ERRBRERE 4,152 —
Balance at end of year F IR AEER 4,152 —

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected
loss provision for all loans and interests receivable. To
measure the expected credit losses, loans and interests
receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses also incorporate forward looking information.

7N 52 18 B A & 8 B % s 2E R SR 95k
BN 7% - MR A B YRR
R A B 2 B TR B RS R B - s TR
EEBETRER RIERMEE
BiE - BREFRENEEREBERRE
ERBRBHANARREETHIM B
HEEERTBREAELEER -

91-180 181-360 Over 360
days days days
Current past due past due past due Total
Bl Eifif B
B#  91E180X 181FE360X  #if360XK @t
At 30 June 2021 R-B=-—-&
~B=1+H
Weighted average MEFHEHEBRX
expected loss rate 0% 0% 100%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) [EUr& % (F%T) 12,142 4,033 — 119 16,294
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BREE(TEL — (4,033) — (119) (4,152)
At 30 June 2020 R-ZRZ%E
~B=1+H
Weighted average MEFHEHEBRX
expected loss rate 0% 0% 0%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) fEUr& %8 (T L) 12,622 113 = 5,453 18,188

Loss allowance (HK$'000) BREEE(TET) =

The receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to independent borrowers that have good track records with
the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment loss is necessary in respect of this balance as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balance is still considered fully recoverable.
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25.

26.

BE-ZE-—FRA=+THILFE

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

25. HMAREFAERZRE

2021 2020
—F-—F —T_EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, R &B £ 2 BAE

at fair value 5 HRARE 1,129 1,696

Unlisted investment — keyman RETIRE — FEBAE
insurance contract REEAE D 17,203 —
18,332 1,696

The fair value of the listed equity securities was determined
based on the quoted market bid prices of the corresponding
listed equity securities.

The keyman insurance contract relates to an insurance policy
insured for Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, the chief executive officer
and an executive director of the Company. The keyman
insurance contract is denominated in US dollars. The fair
value of the keyman insurance contract was estimated by
making reference to the cash surrender value set out in the
policy statement provided by the insurance company.

As at 30 June 2021, the keyman insurance contract with
carrying amount of approximately HK$17,203,000 (2020: Nil)
was pledged to a bank to secure banking facilities available
to the Group.

REFUNDABLE SECURED DEPOSIT

The Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement and
a supplemental agreement on 27 November 2013 and
16 December 2013, respectively, with an independent third
party in relation to the acquisition of 100% equity interest
of a target company and its subsidiaries which are mainly
engaged in hotel operations in Mainland China  (the
“Proposed Acquisition”). On 23 December 2013, an amount
of HK$150,000,000 was paid by the Group as refundable
deposit. The refundable deposit was charged over the entire
issued share capital of a Hong Kong subsidiary of the target
company and was classified as secured deposit for
acquisition of subsidiaries as at 30 June 2014.

TERREREEERAR

ERAESRZAABEREHERE L
MERABSFHMBENSBAEETE

TEABRRAMHERDAITHARY
RATEZHLEELERRORER
M-ZEIZABRBRAMUERITA
BE-TBEABRBEONAAESE
Rig AR REHRERES 2 RRE
BEeBET A

RZE-Z—FEXA=+H" BEEYD
517,203,000 L (ZE T F: )
NEBAEBERBAOABRTFEAEEZ
RITRMELD IR FRITIERIRR -

26. O RECIKBZRE

REBHE-ZBIE=HTN_BE—=
F+—A-++tHR-E—=%F+—
B+NB2RIFI B & 7% M
ZOANRERRBEEARRENE
NAEIZ100% B Atz HEERF
BRMREAEES (2 WES
B - RZB—=F+-A=-+=
B - AR&£E % 14150,000,000/8 T  1E
AARBERES R_ZE—WMENA
=+H ZEUEERSERBEED
AN —EEBNEAR Z 2B %17
EAEIRIR - WHEARKENE A
AIBEEZS -
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26.

128

REFUNDABLE SECURED DEPOSIT (CONTINUED)

According to the Company’s announcement dated
28 October 2014, the Group and the vendor entered into a
termination agreement to terminate the Proposed
Acquisition because certain conditions precedent of the
Proposed Acquisition were not satisfied. Pursuant to the
termination agreement, the Group and the vendor agreed
that the refundable deposit shall be refunded to the Group
by three installments including HK$60,000,000;
HK$45,000,000; and HK$45,000,000, repayable on
10 November 2014, 27 January 2015 and 27 April 2015,
respectively. The first installment of HK$60,000,000 was
received by the Company on 7 November 2014.

According to the Company’s announcement dated 18 June
2015, the Group and the vendor entered into a
supplemental termination agreement to amend certain terms
of the termination agreement relating to the refund of the
remaining refundable deposit. Pursuant to the supplemental
termination agreement, the Group and the vendor have
agreed that the remaining refundable deposit shall be
refunded to the Group by two installments including
HK$20,000,000 and HK$70,000,000, together with interest
as calculated at 5% per annum, repayable on 18 June 2015
and 19 November 2015, respectively. The second installment
of HK$20,000,000 together with interest was received by the
Group on 18 June 2015. During the year ended 30 June
2018, the Group received deposit refund of HK$58,000,000
together with interest income of HK$2,000,000. The deposit
of HK$12,000,000 was overdue as at 30 June 2021 (2020:
HK$12,000,000). On 23 August 2021, the Group and the
vendor entered into an agreement for the settlement of the
remaining refundable deposit of HK$12,000,000. Pursuant to
the agreement, the vendor shall pay HK$1,000,000 and
HK$11,000,000 with interest as calculated at 1% per annum
within 14 days and 24 months, respectively, from the date
of agreement signed.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment loss is necessary in respect of this
balance as the Group obtains collateral from the vendor of
which the estimated value is sufficient to cover the
outstanding amount in case of default.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE=ZZT-_—FA=+HIFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. BEERAREMERRIE
2021 2020
—E-—% —E =&
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TET
Trade payables &1 BR X 9,571 4,480
Other payables and accruals H b B RIE R
FE 5T 3K IB 23,416 27,243
32,987 31,723
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of FERERZRRERBZERERS TN
receipt of goods, is as follows: T
2021 2020
—E-—f —E_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TET
0-90 days 0£90K 9,053 4,371
91-180 days 912 180K 267 =
181-360 days 181E360K 23 —
Over 360 days 1B 360K 228 109
9,571 4,480

HEBREREEERAR —TZ—H£F% 129
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHZE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HEE®E®
Present Present
value of value of
Lease Lease lease lease
payments  payments payments  payments
HE HE
HERZR BHEMR FREE FRHEE
2021 2020 2021 2020

—BC--f _T_TF - —_T_TF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TFHET FHEIT FHET FEL

Within one year —F RN 11,980 5,067 10,948 4,085
In the second to fifth years, FEERF
inclusive (BREERMSF) 16,247 13,306 13,550 10,267
After five years ik 13,721 17,194 13,050 16,043
41,948 35,567 37,548 30,395
Less: Future finance charges W RRBEER (4,400) (5,172)
Present value of lease obligations HEEMTHRE 37,548 30,395
Less: Amount due for settlement B 1218 A W?'Jﬁﬂ,‘%ié}
within 12 months (shown BB RRR
under current liabilities) HEEBEHET) (10,948) (4,085)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A 12 2 Bl 45 & 30R
12 months 26,600 26,310
At 30 June 2021, the average effective borrowing rate was R-ZZTE-_—FXA= ‘1’ EI B
3.65% (2020: 3.78%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract BEERNRA3E5%(ZT-F ¢
dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate 378%) FIEREXHNBHEETE -
risk. A FEAEE@mRAAENERER -
29. BORROWINGS AND BANK OVERDRAFTS . BRRBITEX
2021 2020
—E=-—f —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
Ti#T FE T
Bank loans RITERK 70,787 26,000
Bank overdrafts R1TEX — 3,679
Shareholder loan f% R E = 1,000 1,500
71,787 31,179
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29.

BORROWINGS AND BANK OVERDRAFTS
(CONTINUED)

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

EMRRITER (B)

fERAR T FEEE

2021 2020
—B-—F —T_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#&T THET
On demand or within one year JEESRKSI N —F R 71,787 29,679
In the second year NE_F — 1,500
71,787 31,179
Less: Amount due for settlement within 38 : 1218 8 A B A& &
12 months (shown under current I (B RR
liabilities) FBEFEET) (71,787) (29,679)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A& B R &5 E 3
12 months — 1,500

The banking facilities of the installment loan and revolving
loan contain a repayment on demand clause that provides
the bank with an unconditional right to demand repayment
at any time at its own discretion. As at 30 June 2021,
installment loan of approximately HK$55,487,000 (2020: Nil)
is repayable more than one year after the end of the
reporting period pursuant to the repayment schedule
included in the installment loan agreement. Revolving loan of
approximately HK$15,300,000 (2020: HK$26,000,000) is
repayable on the maturity date of that advance unless the
bank allows for a rollover. Both loans are charged at 2.75%
below the bank’s prime lending rate (2020: the bank’s prime
lending rate and 2.5% per annum over the applicable HIBOR
for overdrafts and revolving loan, respectively). Due to the
repayment on demand clause, such amounts of loans were
classified as current liabilities as at 30 June 2021 in
accordance with Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause.
The bank loans are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

TERREREEERAR

PHERABRERNBITRE
HEREREZGER B FRITEEK
HREFMABREBERER R
—E-—FA=1H " pHERY
55,487,000 T (ZE —ZTF : #) A
RIESHERBZMHERGERR
MEREBB—FEREE - BRIER
1TRAFEE - 4 8I4%15,300,0007% 7T
— = T4 126,000,000/ 7T ) Y &
REFARZBAREEEEE -ME
BEXUEZEERBTRERZERF X
275% (ZE_ZFF B REIR
BRME @ DRRBETREZERF
ERNEREBRTRAEREM25%
MEMR)TE - ARREREZIE
FBREREBREFESRMERERZ
27 — ERAUHEIRERKEER
RZEHERZHE ZEEREHE
R-CEBE-—FXA=1TBE2EAERD
BE-RITERRFHRELHE
hASEEEGRRESREFNERAR -
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29.

132

BORROWINGS AND BANK OVERDRAFTS
(CONTINUED)

As at 30 June 2021, the bank loans were secured by (i) the
car parking spaces with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$191,900,000; (i) a deed of assignment of
rental income from the car parking spaces (note 18); (iii) the
keyman insurance contract classified under the investments
at fair value through profit or loss with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$17,203,000; and (iv) personal
guarantee from a director of the Company. As at 30 June
2020, the bank loans and overdrafts were secured by (i) the
car parking spaces with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$190,000,000; and (ii) a deed of
assignment of rental income from the car parking spaces.
The shareholder loan is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on or before 24 February 2022.

The effective interest rate at the end of the reporting period
was 2.5% (2020: 3.26%).
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BE-Z=-—

FRA=THLFE

30. DEFERRED TAX 30. BEHIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities NTAREERRNEZRELEREE
recognised by the Group. f& °
Fair value
adjustment
on biological Operating
assets rights Total
EMEEZ . )
AR EAE i gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 July 2019 ANZE-NFEH—H 65,748 23,219 88,967
Credited to profit or loss FARBEETAMaE11)
for the year (note 11) (1,203) (1,166) (2,369)
Exchange differences PE X =5 (2,354) (824) (3,178)
At 30 June 2020 and ﬁé_g_Yi/\ﬂ +H
1 July 2020 r—_E-_FTF+HA—H 62,191 21,229 83,420
Credited to profit or loss FARBEETAME11)
for the year (note 11) (2,061) (1,232) (3,293)
Exchange differences fE X =% 5,924 2,009 7,933
At 30 June 2021 R_ZE-_—FXA=+H 66,054 22,006 88,060

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$108,658,000 (2020:

RBEBRR AEB RS ARE
E51849108,658,00078 7T, (= $:$¢

HK$94,969,000) available for offset against future profits. No 94,969,000/ JT) A] T\ E i N
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the A o EBEMH/X?EQJF SEEREARK
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit & A B AR TJWEQJ A EEE
streams of the respective group entities. Included in WRBELEFIBEEE - 5T ARERIIE
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately &5 18 HY 5 18 %95,642,0007% 7T (HH &
HK$5,642,000 (equivalent to RMB4,692,000) (2020: WA R¥4,692, 0007z>(:$:5¢ :
HK$7,520,000 (equivalent to RMB6,855,000)) that will expire 7,520,000 (M E RN AR K
in 5 years from the year of origination. Other tax losses may 6,855,0007T)) #5 & 78 #4 4 & #E 554
be carried forward indefinitely. g}ﬁ o H th B TH &5 18 TT BE B[R HA 4
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. IB&
2021 2020
—F=--F —E_FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Authorised: ERE
15,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.02 &Rk E0.02/& T 2
each 15,000,000,0000% 3 i f% 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRAR
2,036,538,114 (2020: 2,036,538,114) FREE0.02B T
ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each 2,036,538,114/%
(ZZB=ZF:
2,036,538, 114f% ) & i i% 40,731 40,731
FHEREEREEBRA —E-_—F#F% 133



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2021

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES

(a)

134

HE-_T_—FA=+HLEE

Statement of financial position of the

32. FABIZMBRARRHE

() FAFZMBRRR

Company
2021 2020
—E-—%f —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#&T THETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR Z®E 18 11
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other B ZIE - & R EAth
receivables FE W 3k 1TE 479 484
Due from subsidiaries JiE W Bft /&8 & & 5K IR 275,229 300,058
Bank and cash balances RITRIB e & 334 127
276,042 300,669
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H b FE (< 5K I8 7,777 7,729
Due to subsidiaries XN EENGIE S 37,194 1,515
Borrowings EEAS 1,000 29,679
45,971 38,923
Net current assets RENEEFE 230,071 261,746
Total assets less current BEERTRHER
liabilities 230,089 261,757
Non-current liabilities ERBDER
Borrowings B — 1,500
— 1,500
NET ASSETS EEFHE 230,089 260,257
Capital and reserves BAXRGEE
Share capital fi& 2 40,731 40,731
Reserves 1 189,358 219,526
TOTAL EQUITY R 230,089 260,257
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b) Reserves of the Company

(c)

32. XABIZMBRRARRHE

(48)

(b) FAEIfME

Share-based

Share compensation

Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
BtriefE B o<t RitBE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FTET TET
At 1 July 2019 RZE—NF
+H—H 1,210,501 15,843 (914,239) 312,105
Loss for the year FEEE = = (92,579) (92,579)
Share options lapsed B 2k % B i% #& — (3,213) 3,213 —
At 30 June 2020 R_Z_FTF
NA=TH 1,210,501 12,630 (1,003,605) 219,526
At 1 July 2020 R _TF
t+tH—H 1,210,501 12,630 (1,003,605) 219,526
Loss for the year FEBE = — (30,168) (30,168)
At 30 June 2021 R-_E_—%
NA=+H 1,210,501 12,630 (1,033,773) 189,358
Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group () FEEREZHERAR
(i) Share premium account (i) KRPBRER
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman BEFAEFSAAE K
Islands, the funds in the share premium account NAIRDBEERZEST
of the Company are distributable to the DR FARRABALE - HERT
shareholders of the Company provided that REEEEZYIKKRE R
immediately following the date on which the Hi1& - KRRl 8E497E B
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the BEEBAEPEEINRE
Company will be in a position to pay off its I8 °
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.
(ii) Statutory reserve (i) EECEE
In accordance with the relevant regulations of the RIEPBEBREER R
PRC, the group entities established in Mainland BN 2 SBEEAE
China are required to transfer a certain 1% %:FtWJZ@%Rfé/mf‘J
percentage of the profit after tax, if any, to a (B BEREETERHE -

statutory reserve. Subject to certain restrictions as
set out in the relevant regulations, the statutory
reserve may be used to offset the accumulated
losses, if any, of the group entities.

TERREREEERAR
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33.

136
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group
(Continued)

(iii) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between
the capital injection made by the Company over
the nominal value of the registered capital of the
subsidiaries in Mainland China.
(iv) Share-based compensation reserve
Share-based compensation reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to directors
and employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note
3.
(v) Foreign currency translation reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 3.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme

The existing share option scheme of the Company was
approved on 11 November 2015 (“Share Option Scheme”)
(the 10% general limit under the said share option scheme
has been refreshed pursuant to a resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 11 November 2015). The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Group with a
flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, and/or providing benefits to the participant
and to provide the participant with the opportunity to
acquire a personal stake in the Group and to build common
objectives of the Group and the participant for the
betterment of business and profitability of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The Board of Directors may, at their discretion, invite any
participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her
signing the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the
option and paying HK$1 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof.

The subscription price for shares in the Company under the
Share Option Scheme will be the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares in the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which
date must be a business day); (ii) a price being the average
of the closing prices of the shares in the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company.

The total number of shares in the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of shares in the Company in issue as at the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. An option
may be exercised during a period to be determined by the
directors in its absolute discretion and in any such period
shall not be longer than 10 years from the date upon which
the option is granted.

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant under the
Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1%
limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting. The Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date upon
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted.

THRREEREEBRAF

33.

PAR% 15 B B 8 B 19 3% (48)
URESH 2RIk &8 (&)

ExgrMNRRFEM2EERNE
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

33. LUzt B & 6E 09 1=K (8)
AR HE 45 B 2 R B A B (48)
A EZE 2 HEMT

Details of the movements of share options are as follows:

Number of share options

BRERE
Lapsed Balance as at
during the 30 June 2020,
Exercise year ended 1 July 2020
price per  Balance as at 30 June and 30 June
Grantees Date of grant Exercise period share 1 July 2019 2020 2021
R-B-FF
~A=+H8-
—BC-8F
® S tA—-HBXR
—EB-nE CZ—B-FHE —®¥C-—%F
tHA—H ~A=+H ~A=+H
RAIEA RHBH TIEH BRITEE ZER  LEEEXRH ZER
HK$
BT
Executive directors 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 42,428,451 — 42,428,451
WITES —T—RF —E-AFHEA=+=AZE
mMA=+=H —EoRFMA=+—H
Executive directors 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 9,900,000 = 9,900,000
HITEF —T-N\F —E-NFAAEAZE
~NAERA —ZEZNERAMEA
Chief executive officer 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 14,142,817 == 14,142,817
TR —E-RE —E-REWA=Z+ZHZE
mMA=+=H ZE-REMAZ+—H
Chief executive officer 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 2,800,000 = 2,800,000
THBEHR —E-N\E —E-N\F~ARAZE
~NAERA T N\FARANEA
Independent non- 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 3,000,000 — 3,000,000
executive directors
BUFBTES —T-N\F —E-NFAAEAZE
~NAERA —ZEZNERAMEA
An employee 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 14,142,817 == 14,142,817
—%ER —E-RE —E-REWA=Z+ZHZE
mA=+=H ZE-REMAZ+—H
Employees 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 18,800,000 (100,000) 18,700,000
E& —E-N\E —E-NF~ARAZE
~NAERA T N\FRANEA
Consultants 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 20,400,000 (20,400,000) =
B —E-N\#E —E-NEXARERZE
~NARA —ZEZN\FXAWEA
125,614,085 (20,500,000) 105,114,085
Weighted average 0.2547 0.2426
exercise price (HK$)
meEFHTEECET)
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 33.

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The fair value of share options was calculated using the
binomial pricing model. The inputs into the model are as

PAR% 15 B B 8 B 19 3% (48)
URESH 2RIk &8 (&)

BhREgzZARENER _HUEEE

BRGHE ZRW 2B ABEANT

follows:
Date of grant 22 April 2016 5 June 2018
—E—RE —E—N\Ef
RHBaH mA=+=H 7~AAH
Stock price i & HK$0.198 HK$0.315
0.198%8 7T 0.315%8 7T
Strike price 1THE(E HK$0.2064 HK$0.317
0.2064/% 7T 0.3178 7T
Historical volatility JE £ @ 96.86% 47.82%
Contractual life (years) A HFHI(F) 10 10
Risk free rate 4 [ [ ) & 1.311% 2.125%
Dividend yield iR B s & 0% 0%
Early exercise multiple RETHEEH 2.8 2.2-2.8
Exit rate per annum FMKE 22.92% 0%-27.32%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the
previous 10 years. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted, based on the Group’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

TERREREEERAR

FEHIR IR DRIBA QB RERBE T
FZELRBOFEMEE - ZEA
FAZEAFHEREASE 2 &IE
et AR EE  TERBILITA

AEMEKRZEE
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—EC—FER 139



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHE_-ZT—

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS
(a)

During the year,

—FRNA=THRLFE

Major non-cash transaction

a keyman insurance contract was

entered by the Group as a purchase of investments at
fair value through profit or loss, and a partial of the
lump sum insurance premium of the keyman insurance
contract of approximately HK$15,300,000 was settled
by a bank on behalf of the Group to the insurance
company, by crediting the same amount to bank loans

of the Group.

(b)

activities

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

The following table shows the Group’s changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities during the

year:

34,

FEBHSRERZMEE

(a) EEHFBREXS
FR - AKEFTL—DHEEA
BREREH FREERAR
Bt AB&ZZERE MEEA

BRBEN 2B —EBRE
#715,300,000/% T B B — fE R
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁlﬁﬂhﬁﬁﬁﬁ
STAAREE 2 RITE MM Z
R A REE -

(b) MEGTHELEZAEEZS

TRINRFEFARNKERE LS
ELXzABEED:

Total liabilities
from financing

Borrowings Lease liabilities activities
MEZTBHELEZ
LEEN HEAR HEeR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET THET
At 1 July 2019 RZZE—NF
+HA—H 22,000 — 22,000
Changes in cash flows Renegy 4,527 (4,207) 320
Non-cash changes FReE
— recognition upon initial — RUKRERB BB R
application of HKFRS 16 SRR E165R TR = 2,973 2,973
— additions — hE = 31,562 31,562
— interest charged — BEHE 973 993 1,966
— exchange differences —EREHE = (926) (926)
At 30 June 2020 and N_ZT_ZTF
1 July 2020 NA=ZTHER=ZZ-ZF
+HA—H 27,500 30,395 57,895
Changes in cash flows Hemag 27,843 (3,072) 24,771
Non-cash changes FREEE
— additions — NE = 8,544 8,544
— interest charged — B HE 1,144 1,134 2,278
— directly settled by a bank to — HEEHR - BEROMRT
an insurance company —ERRAAE 15,300 = 15,300
— exchange differences — EREHRE = 547 547
At 30 June 2021 s — — s
7 i = [ 71,787 37,548 109,335
35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35. HAEBMK
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities AEBRZZEZ_—FRZTZ_ZTFRX

at 30 June 2021 and 2020.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 EHE-ZT-_—HFXA=+HIFE

36. COMMITMENTS 36. iR
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RI|MEBR - AEERA T EKHKE
contracted with a tenant for the following minimum lease HENRE-—RHEPITBEEA :

payments receivable:

2021 2020
—T-—f —_T_EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Within one year —& R 3,000 —
In the second to fifth years inclusive FZEEZFRF
(BREEREMF) 2,000 —
5,000 —
The Group leases its investment properties (note 18) under AEERBLEEHELHEERERE
operating lease arrangements which run for an initial period ) 2 (T 518) - 91 5 #0 B B24F » 7]
of 2 years, with an option to renew the lease terms at the BENIEASASEERSE T
expiry date or at dates as mutually agreed between the EZBHEEMEE-
Group and the tenant.
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. AEANLTRS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed (a)
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,

during the year, the Group entered into the following N RAEEETZL —F
material related party transactions. ALTRS e
2021 2020
—®T-—f —T_EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#ET FAT
Rental paid (note (a)) BEfNEe (Wit@) 176 2,116
Sales to a related company m—EEEARHEE
(note (b)) (K&t b)) 25 28
Notes: Hraz -

(a) Rental were paid to a company in which the mother of Mr.
Yeung Chi Hang (“Mr. Yeung”), an executive director,
Chairman and Chief Executive Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company, has 50% indirect equity

interest.
(b) Goods were sold to and purchased from a company whose
director is the spouse of a director of the Company's
subsidiary.
(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b)

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors and all the highest paid employees, is
disclosed in note 13.

TERREREEERAR

(@ MEEXNFTAABNTE
= IERTHERREIZR
REBEERE(HBEREDZE
BEFS0%EE L AT D

e
(b) mM—EARREERE —HAR
BEEM ZRREZTAALAR
AME AR —RESEZEM®-
TEEBEANSHM
AEEEIBEEASZHME
EENTALNEERLES
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

38.

142

PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 38.
OF THE COMPANY

BE-ZE-—FRA=+tHILFE

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at
30 June 2021 are as follows:

RXABEEMBATFE

J& e A< BT BB A R Y RRIA R R R
A 2B RERETEERY -

RZZEZ—FA=+H KXQA=E
EMBARZFBOT

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Issued and

Percentage of

Name operation paid-up capital ownership interest Principal activities
SRR R
& BEDE EBRTRHACESF BHREGHLL ETEEY
Direct Indirect
BHE fel 4
Grand Diamond Investment Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Provision of money
Limited lending services
BEREBRRA &B 18T REE T RS
International Richway Limited  Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% — Provision of management
services and
investment holding
BEREMRERAA R 10,0007 7T REHEEERE K
REER
Mega Choice Holdings Limited The British Virgin Us$1 100% — Securities trading and
Islands investments
RBRAES 1% EREBERKRE
Prima Choice Limited The British Virgin Us$1 100% — Investment holding
Islands
REBREZHS 1%:7T REZR
Harvest Top Development Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 100% Property investment
Limited
HAERERAQA B 10,0007 7T MERE
BAC HK Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 90% Trading of motor vehicles
and related
accessories
B 10,0007 7T BEEREREBREMT
Power Asia Motorsport Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 90% Trading of motorcycles
Company Limited and related
accessories
B 10,0007 7T BEEEEENABRMN
Bl e mEBR AR Mainland China HK$600,000 = 100% Plantation related
business
B P i 600,000 7T BEMEBERY
REAHTERERADRA Mainland China HK$77,000,000 — 80% Property investment
B A i 77,000,000/ 7T MERE

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE=ZZT-_—FA=+HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 38. AT EMBATIEIE (E)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

39.

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Issued and

Percentage of

Name operation paid-up capital ownership interest Principal activities
MR R
Ee ZEMES EBRTRACEF BHEGHLL ETEEH
Direct Indirect
HE fel 4%

CER Ho Wun Motors Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100 — 51% Trading of motor vehicle
accessories and
investment holding

HEBEERRAR B 1007 7T EEAERGREER
2l

CER Motorsport Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 60% Provision of services
related to motorcycles

& 1007 7T RESEHIEBRS
FBEZESERAR Mainland China RMB5,500,000 — 100% Sales of golden flower
tea products
E A A R #5,500,0007T HESERER
Peak Environmental Resources Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 — 100% Trading of recycled
Limited metals

BRBEREXERAA BB 7,000,000/ 7T EERKEE

irEEE (ORI BAREMAT Mainland China = = 51% Trading of motor vehicle
accessories

T E A it BEEAERN
Waldo Kingdom Private Nepal NPR129,072,000 — 100% Hotel business
Limited
IRl 129,072,000 VS
JEHR E L

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for
30 September 2021.

issue by the Board of Directors on

TERREREEERAR
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39. HESFEMBHRR

EMBBRER_ZE_—FALA=T
EESSHAELRETE-

143



Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMBEHE

AEEBERENRFENREALREER
BEZBEIN T ARIHEBEE T
BrREBRVBHRE ARNBEEBRATE

M-

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and reclassified as
appropriate, is set out below.

RESULTS For the years ended 30 June
E¥ BEANAZTHILFEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—EZ-% —2-%FF —FE-hEF E-NF —ZT—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATL FEL FET FAET
Revenue U 25 77,878 75,406 119,387 212,276 13,971
Loss before tax B A& 1B (50,056) (56,782) (139,131) (205,061) (38,442)
Income tax credit FERiER 1,114 1,008 17,991 44,475 9,238
Loss for the year FEER (48,942) (55,774) (121,140) (160,586) (29,204)
Other comprehensive Hih2mE M/
income/(loss) (&18) 30,913 (12,423) (15,886) 17,830 (6,852)
Total comprehensive loss & 2 K B2
for the year (18,029) (68,197) (137,026) (142,756) (36,056)
Total comprehensive loss LV F A TFEIEEE
for the year 2EBREE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZARXAR#EA A (16,058) (67,610) (137,774) (142,235) (34,582)
Non-controlling interests  JF#% B # 25 (1,971) (587) 748 (521) (1,474)
(18,029) (68,197) (137,026) (142,756) (36,056)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES As at 30 June
EEREE RAA=+H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--% —Z-FTF —FT-hF T-NF —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FEL FET FHEIT
Non-current assets FERBEE 669,382 641,280 656,233 767,728 882,423
Current assets MEEE 130,268 121,118 129,531 152,106 152,136
Current liabilities mEAE (125,289) (73,436) (50,868) (24,218) (20,613)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (114,660) (111,230) (88,967) (112,661) (181,295)
Net assets EEFE 559,701 577,732 645,929 782,955 832,651
Attributable to: DT ALREW:
Owners of the Company AR EHEHE A 549,095 565,158 632,768 770,542 819,724
Non-controlling interests  3E#22 % # 25 10,606 12,574 13,161 12,413 12,927
Total equity HEmEE 559,701 577,732 645,929 782,955 832,651
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